BUILDING SAFETY IN LOS ANGELES: A POLICY AGENDA FOR LOCAL HEALTH AND SAFER COMMUNITIES

Author: Nicole Brown



SEPTEMBER 2022







Sol Price School of Public Policy Tomás Rivera Policy Institute

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to acknowledge community leaders across Los Angeles County who have worked tirelessly for decades to challenge injustice, transform conditions, and build power in communities affected by violence and incarceration. Their labor and vision have made way for the ambitious policy agenda outlined in this paper and have created safer, more just communities.

I would like to thank the following individuals for helping to review and inform this paper:

Roberto Suro, Professor of Journalism and Public Policy, University of Southern California

Fernando Rejón, Executive Director, Urban Peace Institute

Diana Zúñiga, Founder & Principal, Tres Lunas Consulting

Dr. Bikila Ochoa, Deputy Director, Anti-Recidivism Coalition

Dr. David Turner III, Chancellor's Postdoctoral Fellow, Ralph J. Bunche Center for African American Studies, University of California, Los Angeles

Zakaria Mohamed, Deportation Defense Organizer, Black LGBTQIA+ Migrant Project (BLMP)

Reyna Lopez, Executive Director, Pineros y Campesinos Unidos del Noroeste (PCUN)

Kyle Hulburd, Master of Public Policy and PhD student, Sol Price School of Public Policy, University of Southern California

ABOUT THE AUTHOR

Nicole Brown is the Policy Manager at the Urban Peace Institute (UPI), where she works to advance the policy areas outlined in this report. Before joining UPI, she worked as a Policy Fellow at the Tomás Rivera Policy Institute and as Field Director at Unite Oregon, a statewide immigrant and refugee rights organization, where she organized around issues such as police profiling and ending law enforcement collaboration with Immigration and Customs Enforcement (ICE). Nicole received a Master of Public Policy degree from the University of Southern California, Sol Price School of Public Policy.

ABOUT THE PRICE CENTER FOR SOCIAL INNOVATION

The mission of the USC Sol Price Center for Social Innovation is to develop ideas and illuminate strategies to improve the quality of life for people in low-income urban communities.

The USC Sol Price Center for Social Innovation acknowledges the Gabrielino/Tongva peoples as the traditional land caretakers of Tovaangar (the Los Angeles basin and So. Channel Islands), and we acknowledge our presence on the ancestral and unceded territory of the Chumash, Kizh, and Tataviam nations. We recognize and are committed to lifting up their stories, culture, and community. We pay our respects to the Honuukvetam (Ancestors), 'Ahiihirom (Elders), and 'Eyoohiinkem (our relatives/relations) past, present, and emerging.



socialinnovation.usc.edu



@USCPriceCSI



www.facebook.com/PriceSocialInnovation

ABOUT TOMAS RIVERA POLICY INSTITUTE

The Tomás Rivera Policy Institute is an interdisciplinary research center at the University of Southern California where it is a project of the Sol Price Center for Social Innovation.

ABOUT URBAN PEACE INSTITUTE

The Urban Peace Institute is a leading nonprofit organization with a mission to prevent violence, achieve safety, and improve community health. For nearly two decades, UPI has developed and implemented innovative solutions to address violence and engaged in justice system reform. The organization has trained over 4,700 residents, law enforcement officers, and community practitioners across the country in public health approaches to reduce violence.



@UrbanPeaceInst



@UrbanPeaceInstitute



www.instagram.com/urbanpeaceinstitute/



www.youtube.com/channel/UCARxduxAMAktjNk1Mbh3h9w

TABLE OF CONTENTS

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	1
PART I: INTRODUCTION	2
Building Safety in Los Angeles	4
PART II: THREE CONCEPTS FOR BUILDING COMMUNITY SAFETY	5
Creating Safety through Community Health	5
Repairing Individual and Systemic Harm	7
Centering Communities Closest to the Problem	7
PART III: POLICY SOLUTIONS IN LOS ANGELES	10
Policy Area I: Alternatives to Incarceration, Community-based System of Care	11
Policy Area II: Youth Justice Reimagined	16
Policy Area III: Violence Intervention	21
PART IV: CHALLENGES AND PROMISE AHEAD	26
APPENDIX A: LOS ANGELES AS A CASE STUDY	28
APPENDIX B: ALTERNATIVES TO INCARCERATION INITIATIVE	29
APPENDIX C: YOUTH JUSTICE REIMAGINED	30
APPENDIX D: VIOLENCE INTERVENTION	31
DECEDENCES	20

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Los Angeles County is home to the nation's largest jail system, which also has become the nation's largest de facto mental health facility. In the face of lawsuits and concerns over jail overcrowding, the Los Angeles County Board of Supervisors approved a \$2.2 billion contract to construct new jails for women and people with mental health and substance use disorders. However, years of community organizing as well as a changing political tide persuaded the Board to cancel the contract and invest in health-centered approaches to reduce the jail population rather than build new jails. This opened space for new strategies that invest in community health and lay the foundation for a comprehensive approach to creating safety.

Three policy areas — Alternatives to Incarceration,
Youth Justice Reimagined, and Violence
Intervention — offer a new path forward for
jurisdictions across the country aiming to "reimagine"
public safety. These policies increase access to services,
prevent unnecessary contact with law enforcement,
and break cycles of violence through community-based
responses to build safer, healthier communities.

Three key frameworks are helpful to understanding these policy agendas and act as anchoring goals through changes in politics and implementation:

1. Creating safety through community health:

A public health approach to reducing and preventing violence is multifaceted and seeks to address the root causes of the problem.

2. Repairing individual and systemic harm:

Restorative and transformative justice provides nonpunitive approaches to accountability and repairing structural harm.

3. Centering communities closest to the problem: The leadership of communities affected by violence and incarceration must be centered in the design, implementation, and oversight of these policy strategies.

Policy Solutions in Los Angeles

Advocates and policymakers in Los Angeles County are building new infrastructures of care and safety that sit entirely outside of the justice system. This robust policy agenda includes:

- 1. Alternatives to Incarceration, Community-based System of Care: Over 100 recommendations created by the county's Alternatives to Incarceration Work Group to provide "treatment first and jail as a last resort." A significant part of the recommendations focuses on building a community-based system of preventive care and alternatives to law enforcement to respond to mental health and substance use crises.
- 2. Youth Justice Reimagined: An innovative plan to phase youth out of the jurisdiction of the Los Angeles County Probation Department and into a new, health-focused Department of Youth Development within five years.
- **3. Violence Intervention:** Investment in an asset-based, public health approach to preventing and interrupting cycles of violence, with a focus on the Los Angeles Mayor's Office of Gang Reduction and Youth Development, one of the first and longest-standing public investments in coordinated, community-based violence intervention.

While these policy agendas bring great promise, their implementation faces continued challenges. Bold leadership and significant investments are needed to build long-term solutions and truly shift the status quo toward a holistic approach to community health and safety.

BUILDING SAFETY IN LOS ANGELES: A POLICY AGENDA FOR LOCAL HEALTH AND SAFER COMMUNITIES

PART I: INTRODUCTION

Cheers echoed through the hearing room as the votes were called. It was Tuesday, August 13, 2019, and the Los Angeles County Board of Supervisors in a 4-1 vote took the final step to cancel a \$2.2 billion contract to construct a massive mental health facility that would have replaced the county's dilapidated Men's Central Jail. Months earlier, they had voted to abandon a plan to replace the women's jail under the same contract.2 These votes culminated a hard-fought campaign to halt expansion of what was already the largest jail system in the world. Hundreds of activists, led by the JusticeLA Coalition and other organizations fighting for care over incarceration, packed the hearing room clad in orange shirts with a message on the back that encapsulated the fight at hand: "Can't get well in a cell."

Like many counties in the United States, Los Angeles has long been guilty of overcrowding and unconscionable conditions in its jail system. Most people who cycle through have serious mental health and substance use issues, and racial disparities abound. At first pass, the Board of Supervisors sought to remedy this with the same strategy relied upon for decades: build a bigger, "better" jail. While this strategy may have once passed with little objection, a turning political tide and years of persistent advocacy pushed the board to reverse course.

Rather than "arrest, incarcerate, repeat," the board was persuaded to invest in a new system — one that provides needed care in the community, not a jail cell, and that addresses the root causes of harm, violence, and incarceration.

The vote to cancel the jail construction contract represented one of the largest divestments from mass incarceration in recent history, and it did not occur in a vacuum. Rather, the reversal came amid a decadelong shift in the politics and policies of criminal justice. Calls for reform now span disparate ideologies and jurisdictions. California itself has seen a wholesale course correction. A state that had been a leader in policies of incarceration has since pioneered large-scale reductions of its prison population. Although court rulings ordering the state to improve conditions provided the impetus, major initiatives such as Assembly Bill 109 and Propositions 47 and 57 passed by wide margins between 2011 and 2016. California's prison population declined by 26% between 2008 and 2018; however, jail populations remained stagnant or in some places even increased following prison reforms.3

Recent events have added urgency to these developments. The killing of George Floyd shone a spotlight on a tragic reality felt by many Black Americans and other historically marginalized groups, such as Indigenous, undocumented, homeless, and transgender communities. For too many people in the United States, systems of "public safety" have never felt like sources of protection and have often perpetuated harm and violence instead. The massive protests in the summer of 2020 that followed George Floyd's murder marked broad recognition of systemic failures in the criminal justice system and its role in perpetuating harm and structural racism, particularly against Black people. The protests activated new constituencies to the need for fundamental change. New demands emerged from a consensus understanding that public safety cannot be

¹ Aviles Pino, F. (2019, August 22). Los Angeles County votes to stop construction of new jail-like facility, adding momentum to national abolition movement. The Intercept. https://theintercept.com/2019/08/22/los-angeles-county-mental-health-facility-abolition/

² Macias Jr., M. (2019, February 12). LA County strikes down plans for women's and mental health jail. Courthouse News. https://www.courthousenews.com/la-county-strikesdown-plans-for-womens-and-mental-health-jail/

³Vera Institute of Justice. (2022). Incarceration trends. Retrieved March 10, 2022. https://trends.vera.org/

Marginalized communities: Groups of people with shared qualities or experiences, such as demographics or geography, who have often faced injustice and discrimination. They are pushed to the "margins" of society through exclusion from mainstream civic, educational, economic, or cultural life due to unequal power relationships among social groups. Government systems often fail to represent and address the needs of these groups, causing further disadvantage and isolation.

measured by traditional outputs such as the number of arrests, conviction rates, and people incarcerated. The debate over future directions is well underway, and though it is far from resolved, the impetus is clearly toward an entirely different vision of success based on achieving health and safety for all communities.

In the United States, public policy strategies to create public safety have relied almost exclusively on a criminal justice system designed to deliver carceral punishment for acts of crime and violence rather than seeking to prevent them. From its inception, the U.S. criminal justice system was deeply racialized and used by White settlers as a tool of colonization and to exert economic and political control over Black people after the abolition of slavery.4 In more recent history, the War on Drugs and the era of mass incarceration were a direct response to civil rights activism and unrest in the 1960s among African Americans, as well as Chicanos, Native Americans, Puerto Ricans, and anti-war and prisoner rights demonstrators. 5 Under the justification of fighting crime, our justice system has grown to massive proportions over the past four decades while other needed services, such as mental health care and schools, have struggled to receive adequate resources.

As the criminal justice system has grown, police and jails have become a de facto response to many social maladies they were never designed to address. People with mental health and addiction issues can more easily be admitted to a jail cell than a treatment center. Behavior that once merited no more than a trip to the principal's office now results in arrest by police officers stationed in schools. Police respond to incidents of violence when they occur, but additional systems are rarely in place to heal victims and stop the cycle that ensues.

The criminal justice system costs local governments and the families of justice-involved individuals tens of billions of dollars each year. It also has enormous human costs, as the collateral consequences of arrest and incarceration disrupt households and place further stress on communities already affected by a lack of safety. Central links between the criminal justice system and Immigration and Customs Enforcement (ICE) have led to millions of deportations in the past two decades, further harming and destabilizing vulnerable communities. Even in places that have begun to reform their justice systems, more is needed to repair these harms. The strategies of radically reexamining the justice system and building community-based infrastructures for health and safety must go hand in hand.

Justice-involved individuals: People whose lives are directly affected, and to varying extents controlled, by the justice system through means such as arrest, detention, incarceration, probation or parole supervision, and pending charges.

⁴Thompson, H. A. (2019). The racial history of criminal justice in America. Du Bois Review: Social Science Research on Race, 16(1), 221–241. https://doi.org/10.1017/ S17420.58X19000183

⁵Thompson (2019); and Baum, D. (2016, April). Legalize it all. Harper's Magazine. https://harpers.org/archive/2016/04/legalize-it-all/.

⁶ Pew Charitable Trusts. (2021, January 29). Local spending on jails tops \$25 billion in latest nationwide data. <a href="https://www.pewtrusts.org/en/research-and-analysis/issue-briefs/2021/01/local-spending-on-jails-tops-\$25-billion-in-latest-nationwide-data; and Wagner, P., & Rabuy, B. (2017, January 25). Following the money of mass incarceration. Prison Policy Initiative. https://www.prisonpolicy.org/reports/money.html

⁷ Nowrasteh, A. (2020, December 27). Interior immigration enforcement has collapsed under Trump, lowest level since George W. Bush administration. Cato Institute. https://www.cato.org/blog/interior-immigration-enforcement-has-collapsed-under-trump-lowest-level-george-w-bush

Building Safety in Los Angeles

This report explores a policy agenda in Los Angeles that constitutes significant first steps toward a reinvention, not just a reform, of the county's systems of public safety. The Board of Supervisors' decision not to build a bigger, "better" jail opened space for a new paradigm. An affirmative, local policy agenda that invests in infrastructures for community health and lays the foundation for a comprehensive approach to creating safety has emerged. Rather than build a bigger and "better" jail, new policies increase access to services, prevent unnecessary contact with law enforcement, and break cycles of violence through community-based responses.

In this political moment of "reimagining" public safety, community well-being must be recognized as the foundation for lasting safety, and government policies and investments must follow. In Los Angeles County — where more than a third of the population is foreign-born8 — that requires addressing the unique vulnerabilities of noncitizens who face the life-shattering consequences of deportation on top of whatever is meted out by the criminal justice system. In the nation's most populous county, the realization of this new agenda — its successes, challenges, and evolutions — will provide an important example to advocates and policymakers across the country.



⁸ Crable, M. (2020, February 24). 5 things you may not know about immigrants in Los Angeles County. USC Dornsife School of Letters, Arts and Sciences. https://dornsife.usc.edu/news/stories/3170/five-things-you-may-not-know-about-immigrants-in-los-angeles/.

PART II: THREE CONCEPTS FOR BUILDING COMMUNITY SAFETY

Three key frameworks are informative to understanding the emerging policy agenda in Los Angeles and how these strategies help to create lasting safety. Furthermore, as policies evolve through changes in politics and implementation, these concepts serve as anchors and larger goals to achieving long-term solutions:

- 1. Creating safety through community health
- 2. Repairing individual and systemic harm
- 3. Centering communities closest to the problem

Creating Safety through Community Health

Violence in the United States remains a severe public health issue, even after a significant decline over the past three decades. A rising number of health experts, practitioners, and organizations urges policymakers to invest in holistic and health-centered approaches to reduce violence.⁹

Core to a public health approach is recognizing that violence is preventable and treatable. Violence is a product not of "bad people" but of contextual, biological, environmental, systemic, and social stressors. ¹⁰ The same underlying conditions make all forms of violence

more likely to happen. These root causes include a lack of living-wage jobs, weak community ties, and a lack of trust in government officials.¹¹ However, reinforcing communities' existing strengths can help prevent violence altogether.¹²

A growing body of research points to factors that improve community safety. These factors include community engagement, economic equity, access to quality education and health care, and improved built environments, such as street lighting and parks. 13 In New York, the city used a data-driven approach to improve lighting in 40 housing developments. Through a randomized study, researchers found a 59% decrease in nighttime crime in the high-risk areas that received lighting.14 Other studies have found that the presence of nonprofit community organizations helps reduce crime and violence in communities. 15 A longitudinal study of 264 cities over more than 20 years found that 10 additional nonprofits per 100,000 residents were associated with a 9% reduction in the murder rate, a 6% reduction in the violent crime rate, and a 4% reduction in the property crime rate. 16 Conversely, factors such as social marginalization, negative relations with police, poverty, income inequality, and housing instability put communities at higher risk for violence.¹⁷

⁹ The Movement towards Violence as a Health Issue. (2017, January). Creating and mobilizing health and public health/community systems to reduce violence: A framework for action. https://static1.squarespace.com/static/56ba1eo14c2f858bf88b6dff/t/58f104c6e3df28353c5a821d/1492190406476/2017.04.13_Paper2.pdf

¹⁰ Ibid.

¹¹ Prevention Institute. (n.d.). Violence prevention works: The case for a public health approach to preventing violence. Retrieved March 10, 2022. https://www.preventioninstitute.org/tools/violence-prevention-works-case-public-health-approach-preventing-violence

¹² Ibid.

¹³ Wilder Research. (2020, April). Social conditions for public safety. https://www.wilder.org/wilder-research/research-librany/social-conditions-safe-communities#study-reports

¹⁴ Chalfin, A., Hansen, B., Lerner, J., & Parker, L. (2019). Reducing crime through environmental design: Evidence from a randomized experiment of street lighting in New York City. National Bureau of Economic Research, Working Paper 25798. https://www.nber.org/papers/w25798.pdf

¹⁵Wo, J. C. (2018). Revisiting the crime control benefits of voluntary organizations: Organizational presence, organizational capacity, and crime rates in Los Angeles neighborhoods. Crime & Delinquency, 65(7): https://doi.org/10.1177/0011128718787517

¹⁶ Sharkey, P., Torrats-Espinosa, G., & Takyar, D. (2017). Community and the crime decline: The causal effect of local nonprofits on violent crime. American Sociological Review, 82(6). https://doi.org/10.1177/0003122417736289

¹⁷ Wilder Research (2020)

When someone experiences or is exposed to violence, they are at higher risk of perpetuating or becoming a victim of other forms of violence. 18 This is especially true if the person harmed does not receive trauma-informed support to heal from their experience. In addition to harming individuals, violence harms community assets that act as protective factors, such as access to education, shared community spaces, and economic development. Instead of acting as safe and positive resources, schools and parks can become dangerous places where violence can be perpetrated, and locally owned businesses are harmed rather than uplifted. Therefore, once violence takes root, it can quickly become a harmful and selfperpetuating cycle at the interpersonal and community levels, increasing individual risks and harming protective community resources.

How the collateral impacts of incarceration harm community health and safety

Many of the collateral costs and consequences of mass incarceration and deportation undermine safety in the communities in greatest need. Indiscriminate and abusive policing practices not only harm people directly; they also further marginalize and isolate communities and make violence more likely to occur. Mass incarceration and deportation have destabilized millions of households in the United States, the overwhelming majority of which are people of color. In 2018 alone,

some 2.3 million people were in jail or prison and an additional 4.5 million people were on probation or parole.²⁰ Furthermore, in the past 20 years, over 2 million people living in the United States have been deported.²¹

Los Angeles has been greatly affected by these phenomena. Of the sevenfold increase in California's prison population from 1977 to 2000, over 40% of people were drawn from Los Angeles and 70% from Southern California.²² Today, more than 80,000 people in Los Angeles are on probation supervision.²³ And some 951,000 Angelenos are undocumented, despite most of those people having lived here for at least a decade,²⁴ causing great vulnerability and marginalization.

Family separation causes stress and instability, and children with incarcerated parents are more likely to live in poverty and be suspended or expelled from school. A study on paternal incarceration found that young boys with incarcerated fathers are more likely to exhibit aggressive behavior, a variable associated with a higher likelihood of engaging in criminal behavior in the future. In addition to the emotional cost, incarceration and deportation harm economic security. A term of incarceration greatly affects the economic mobility of individuals and families, including employment and future earnings. In addition to the emotional cost, incarceration greatly affects the economic mobility of individuals and families, including employment and future earnings.

¹⁸ Wilkins, N., Tsao, B., Hertz, M., Davis, R., & Klevens, J. (2014, July). Connecting the dots: An overview of the links among multiple forms of violence. National Center for Injury Prevention and Control, Centers for Disease Control, and Prevention Institute. https://www.preventioninstitute.org/publications/connecting-dots-overview-links-among-multiple-forms-violence

¹⁹ Armstead, T. L., Wilkins, N., & Nation, M. (2021). Structural and social determinants of inequities in violence risk: A review of indicators. Journal of Community Psychology, 49(4), 878–906. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcop.22232.

²⁰ Jones, A. (2018, December). Correctional control 2018: Incarceration and supervision by state. Prison Policy Initiative. https://www.prisonpolicy.org/reports/correctionalcontrol/2018.html

²¹ TRAC. (2016). Historical data: Immigration and Customs Enforcement removals. Retrieved March 13, 2022. https://trac.syr.edu/phptools/immigration/removehistory/

²² Murch, D. (2015). Crack in Los Angeles: Crisis, militarization, and Black response to the late twentieth-century war on drugs. Journal of American History, 102(1), 162–173. https://doi.org/10.1093/jahist/jay260

^{23.} County of Los Angeles Probation. (n.d.). About probation. Retrieved March 21, 2022. https://probation.lacounty.gov/about-probation/

²⁴ Migration Policy Institute. (2019). Profile of the Unauthorized Population: Los Angeles County, CA. https://www.migrationpolicy.org/data/unauthorized-immigrant-population/county/6037.

²⁵ Pew Charitable Trusts. (2010). Collateral costs: Incarceration's effect on economic mobility. https://perma.cc/XHL8-KHVA

²⁶ Wildeman, C. (2008). Parental incarceration, the prison boom, and the intergenerational transmission of stigma and disadvantage. [Doctoral dissertation, Princeton University]. https://www.proquest.com/openview/8a6oe58ef9690e8af7d3154cdcoc4c92/12pq-origsite=gscholar&cbl=18750&diss=y.

²⁷ Pew Charitable Trusts. (2010). Collateral costs: Incarceration's effect on economic mobility. https://perma.cc/XHL8-KHVA

The collateral consequences of overpolicing, arrest, and incarceration have further marginalized communities and exacerbated many of the risk factors that leave them more vulnerable to experiencing violence. Considering the depths of harm caused by mass incarceration and violence in many communities, a comprehensive, multisector approach is needed to create safety and to repair the harms often caused by the very systems tasked with creating "public safety." 28

Repairing Individual and Systemic Harm

Many of the movements to reform and replace our justice system look to practices of restorative and transformative justice as ways to repair harm while creating accountability. Restorative justice (RJ) is based on Indigenous practices in North America and New Zealand and emerged as a school of thought in public policy in the late 1970s.²⁹ RJ is a theory of justice, and a set of practices and processes, that serves as an alternative to the traditional, punitive justice system. Restorative justice interventions attend to the needs and experiences of everyone involved in an incident of harm. The process promotes accountability and healing as all parties come together in a conference to review what happened, discuss the impact, and come to agreement on actions that can be taken to make things right. This strategy works to heal relationships and promotes forgiveness and accountability by resolving conflict through voluntary collaboration rather than adversarial and coercive measures.30

While RJ seeks to repair harm among individuals, transformative justice (TJ) expands this concept to examine and repair harm at the interpersonal and systemic levels. TJ works for healing and accountability for everyone involved, not only for the survivor and the person who caused harm, but also for the collective conditions that allowed violence to happen in the first place.³¹ TJ is a theory of justice that sees individual and collective justice as fundamentally intertwined. It seeks to repair incidents of harm as they occur and to prevent future harm by challenging intergenerational injustices and transforming the conditions that allow violence to occur.³²

To transform social conditions and create safety in our most vulnerable communities, our government officials must acknowledge the deep, intergenerational harm caused by systems such as the criminal justice and immigration enforcement systems and take action to repair these harms. As the United States has spent trillions of dollars on mass incarceration, detention, and deportation, we must just as feverishly invest in an alternative system of care that restores families and communities. Key to this is building capacity and investing in communities that have historically experienced harm to create safety for themselves.

Centering Communities Closest to the Problem

To create safety, it is necessary to fortify community strengths and connectedness.³³ The criminal justice and immigration enforcement systems have caused

²⁸ Marshall, J. (2011, April). Comprehensive Violence Reduction Strategy (CVRS): A framework for implementing the CVRS in your neighborhood. Advancement Project. https://static1.squarespace.com/static/55b673coe4bocf84699bdffb/t/5a18992bf9619afa6ao583cf/1511561517180/CVRSReport_Final.pdf

²⁹ Nocella II, A. J. (2011). An overview of the history and theory of transformative justice. Peace & Conflict Review, 6(1). http://www.review.upeace.org/pdf.cfm?articu-lo=124&ejemplar=23

³⁰ Ihid

³¹ Mingus, M. (n.d.). Transformative justice: A brief description. TransformHarm.org. Retrieved March 12, 2022. https://transformharm.org/transformative-justice-a-brief-description/

³² Ibid

³³ Prevention Institute (n.d.).

great intergenerational trauma, resulting in civic isolation. They have also caused deep distrust of government systems, even those that seek to provide care and services. If our public institutions are to repair harm and transform the conditions that allow for violence, they will need to earn the trust of affected communities. The best way to do this is to ensure that those communities have a seat at the decision-making table, create mechanisms for accountability and ongoing involvement, and invest in people from those communities to design and deliver services.

As the adage goes, "if you're not at the table, you're on the menu." For so long, policymakers have made decisions trying to "fix" problems faced by neighborhoods or groups with little to no input from the people affected by those very problems. Thus, time, money, and energy are spent trying to implement "solutions" that are ineffective and sometimes harmful. Through coproduction of policy solutions with affected community members, government systems can effectively identify and address people's needs.34 Continued collaboration in the implementation process allows for collective problem solving and lasting solutions. Even systems of health and "care" need to be held accountable to ensure that they are achieving their goals. Thus, built-in accountability mechanisms that allow for stakeholders to raise concerns and collectively work toward solutions — such as councils,

roundtables, and oversight bodies — are essential for ensuring that government departments and the organizations they contract with are achieving their mission and goals.

To build trust and provide effective, culturally responsive services, community health systems should invest in a workforce of people with lived experiences similar to those of the communities they seek to serve. In the context of justice reform, these community leaders are often referred to as "credible messengers." Evidence-based programming led by credible messengers has proven to significantly reduce recidivism. The Arches mentoring program in New York reduced felony recidivism by over 50% among probation clients ages 16 to 24.35 Evaluations of Youth Advocate Programs Inc. (YAP), which works with youth at high risk of justice system involvement, found that 86% of participants remained arrest-free while in the program,³⁶ and youth were significantly less likely to be in out-of-home placements or secure facilities after completion.³⁷ Credible messengers are a foundational part of the YAP model.38

While credible messengers are often associated with programs to reduce recidivism, the concept that the people most directly affected by a problem are the most effective at solving it can be applied to many contexts. This strategy has proven effective in areas such as preventing HIV or cardiovascular disease.³⁹ In the context of creating safety, credible

³⁴ Rosen, J., & Painter, G. (2019). From citizen control to co-production: Moving beyond a linear conception of citizen participation. Journal of the American Planning Association, 85(3), 335-347. https://doi.org/10.1080/01944363.2019.1618727

as Lynch, M.; Astone, N. M., Collazos, J., Lipman, M., & Esthappan, S. (2018, February). Arches Transformative Mentoring program: An implementation and impact evaluation in New York City. Urban Institute. https://www.urban.org/sites/default/files/publication/96601/arches_transformative_mentoring_program_o.pdf

³⁶ Evans, D., & Delgado, S. (2014, April). Most high risk youth referred to Youth Advocate Programs, Inc. remain arrest free and in their communities during YAP participation. John Jay College of Criminal Justice, https://jirec.files.wordpress.com/2011/07/yapfacts201401.pdf

Frans, D., & Delgado, S. (2014, June). YAP helps to keep youth out of secure facilities and living in their communities. John Jay College of Criminal Justice. https://jjrec.files.wordpress.com/2011/07/yapfacts20143.pdf

³⁸ Youth Advocate Programs Inc. (n.d.). Advocate model. Retrieved July 9, 2022. https://www.yapinc.org/What-We-Do/Direct-Services

³⁹ Landers, S., & Levinson, M. (2016). Mounting evidence of the effectiveness and versatility of community health workers. American Journal of Public Health 106(4), 591-592. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4816154/

messengers, gang interventionists, and community health workers (CHWs) provide unique insight and credibility to engage communities at the highest risk of experiencing violence. 40 Community knowledge and relationships are necessary to identify and interrupt violence, as well as to connect residents to solutions and change community norms.⁴¹

In the context of immigrant communities, the success of this concept can be seen in the promotora community health worker model. As one study puts it: "A promotora is someone that is working in the community and comes from within the community."42 They are skilled at building bridges between medically underserved communities, community-based organizations, and health care agencies to increase access to needed care. 43 As trusted members of the communities they serve, CHWs effectively leverage existing networks of relationships and use culturally appropriate messages to help people navigate services and increase access to health care and supportive

services.44 This model has been used to reach some of the most vulnerable communities, such as Indigenous women farmworkers suffering from sexual violence. 45 During the COVID-19 pandemic, CHWs in Los Angeles County, including violence intervention workers, played a critical role in providing personal protective equipment and accurate health information in some of the hardesthit and hardest-to-reach communities.

Building the capacity and economic mobility of workers and organizations rooted in the communities they serve not only is more effective but can also be viewed as a kind of double investment. Investing in a workforce from the very communities in need of service is a direct investment into the community itself. Many of the people best suited to be CHWs and peer navigators are natural pillars of their communities. By investing in them, public agencies invest in stabilizing communities while building trust and repairing harm.

⁴⁰ The Movement towards Violence as a Health Issue (2017).

⁴² Capitman, J., Gonzalez, A., Ramirez, M., & Pacheco, T. L. (2009). The effectiveness of a Promotora health education model for improving Latino health care access in California's Central Valley. Central Valley Health Policy Institute. http://www.fresnostate.edu/chhs/cvhpi/documents/cms-final-report.pdf

⁴⁴ MHP Salud. (2020). Brief report: CHWs and why they work. https://mhpsalud.org/portfolio/brief-report-chws-and-why-they-work/.

⁴⁵ Oregon Law Center. (n.d.). Legal help for clients. Retrieved July 9, 2022. https://oregonlawcenter.org/how-to-get-help/legal-help-for-clients/

PART III: POLICY SOLUTIONS IN LOS ANGELES

Advocates and policymakers in Los Angeles County are building new infrastructures of care and safety that sit entirely outside of the justice system. Rather than continuing to expand systems of policing and incarceration, three policy areas — Alternatives to Incarceration, Youth Justice Reimagined, and Violence Intervention — offer a new path forward. Together, they are an affirmative local agenda for jurisdictions across the country aiming to "reimagine" public safety. While much of this agenda is focused on jails and the juvenile justice system, where most people are accused or convicted of nonviolent offenses, these policy areas work to build critical public health infrastructures that can address root causes of violence and respond to emerging needs.

In Los Angeles, proposals in these three policy areas aim to prevent violence by investing in systems of care for communities with the greatest level of need. They promote restorative justice strategies to create nonpunitive approaches to accountability and repair structural harm through equitable investments in historically underserved areas. They invest in and build capacity for nonprofit organizations that are led by people from the communities they serve. And the leadership of communities affected by violence and incarceration is a critical component of the design, implementation, and oversight of these agendas. If fully implemented, these agendas have the potential to transform conditions in communities across Los Angeles and will provide an informative example for the rest of the country.

LOS ANGELES AS A CASE STUDY⁴⁶

Los Angeles's size and diversity, as well as the massive scale of its challenges and needed solutions, make it an intriguing case study.

Demography

- Los Angeles is the most populous county in the United States. Home to about 10 million residents, LA County has a similar population to the state of Georgia.
- Nearly half the LA County population identifies as Hispanic and/or Latinx, while 9% identify as Black, 15% as Asian, and 26% as White.
- Immigrants make up 35% of the population, and recent estimates show that 1 in 12 of all immigrants in the United States resides in LA County.
- Some 915,000 Angelenos are undocumented, and 74% of those people have lived in the United States for at least 10 years.

Criminal Justice System

- The Los Angeles County Sheriff's Department (LASD) is the largest of its kind. It runs the world's largest jail, which is also the country's largest mental health facility.
- The Los Angeles Police Department (LAPD) is the third-largest police department in the country, and there are 45 additional municipal police departments in the country.
- The combined budgets of LAPD, and the county Sheriff and Probation departments amounted to over \$6.2 billion in fiscal 2020–2021 alone.

⁴⁶ For a full set of citations, see <u>Appendix A</u>

Policy Area I: Alternatives to Incarceration, **Community-based System of Care**

Los Angeles County, like the rest of the nation, has a jail problem. Though its search for remedies is the result of a unique history, it can inform the process elsewhere.

Across the country, local jails are overcrowded, costly, and filled with people in critical need of treatment and housing. In 2019, there were 10.3 million admissions to jails in the United States.⁴⁷ Approximately 2 million of these were of people with a serious mental illness.48 Almost three-quarters of those individuals have co-occurring issues with drugs and alcohol.49 Seventy-four percent of people held in jails nationwide are awaiting trial, meaning they have not been convicted of any crime. 50 Many people cycle through local jails and courtrooms, as a stint behind bars does not address the underlying cause of what might have led them there. What's more, incarceration can further exacerbate mental health problems and disrupt people's housing, family connections, and employment.51

With an average daily population of more than 14,200 inmates, the Los Angeles County jail system is the nation's largest. 52 It is also the largest de facto mental health facility,⁵³ with around 40% of the jail population having identified mental health needs.⁵⁴ The majority of people in the jail are people of color, with Black Angelenos representing 8% of the county population but 29% of people held in the jail. 55 Among people released from LA County jail, 60% have a "significant substance use disorder."56 The majority of people come from five zip codes in South Central, Compton, Long Beach, and the Antelope Valley, which lack key assets such as adequate access to extracurricular activities and employment.⁵⁷ In these areas, child poverty rates are 50% higher than the national average and almost a third of the population spends more than half of their income on rent.58

Challenged by lawsuits and protests over jail conditions, in 2014 the Los Angeles County Board of Supervisors initially offered the knee-jerk response seen so many times before: build a bigger, "better" jail.59 And thus, they approved a \$2.2 billion jail

⁴⁷ Bureau of Justice Statistics. (2021, March). Jail inmates in 2019. https://bjs.ojp.gov/library/publications/jail-inmates-2019

⁴⁸ The Stepping Up Initiative. (n.d.). The problem. Retrieved March 12, 2022. https://stepuptogether.org/the-problem.

⁵⁰ Sawyer, W., & Wagner, P. (2020, March 24). Mass incarceration: The whole pie 2020. Prison Policy Institute. https://www.prisonpolicy.org/reports/pie2020.html#slideshows/slideshow1/2

⁵¹ Pogrebin, M., Dodge, M., & Katsampes, P. (2001). Collateral costs of short-term jail incarceration: The long-term social and economic disruptions. Corrections Digard, L., & Swavola, E. (2019, April). Justice denied: The harmful and lasting effects of pretrial detention. Vera Institute of Justice. https://www.vera.org/downloads/publications/Justice-Denied-Evidence-Brief.pdf

ELos Angeles Almanac. (n.d.). Los Angeles County jail system by the numbers. Retrieved July 9, 2022. http://www.laalmanac.com/crime/cr25b.php

sa Los Angeles County Sheriff's Department (LASD). (2021). Twin Towers Correctional Facility. http://shq.lasdnews.net/pages/tgen1.aspx?id=TTC

⁵⁴ Vera Institute of Justice. (n.d.). Care First L.A.: Tracking jail decarceration. Retrieved May 1, 2022. https://www.vera.org/care-first-la-tracking-jail-decarceration.

⁵⁶ Los Angeles County Alternatives to Incarceration Work Group. (2020, March 18). Care first, jails last: Health and racial justice strategies for safer communities. ${\it https://lacal ternatives.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/03/ATI_Full_Report_single_pages.pdf}$

⁵⁸ Lewis, K., & Burd-Sharps, S. (2018). A portrait of Los Angeles County, Measure of America, https://measureofamerica.org/los-angeles-county/

⁵⁹ Cullors-Brignac, P., & Zuñiga, D. (2014, June 24). A mental health jail is an oxymoron; diversion is what's needed: Guest commentary. Los Angeles Daily News. https://www.dailynews.com/2014/06/24/a-mental-health-jail-is-an-oxymoron-diversion-is-whats-needed-guest-commentary/

construction contract to replace the dilapidated Men's Central Jail with one designed for inmates with mental illness⁶⁰ and to replace a women's jail near South LA with the Mira Loma Detention Center in Lancaster, some 70 miles away.61

For over a decade, coalitions like LA No More Jails had pushed back against jail expansion. And in 2018, when the jail construction contract resurfaced after significant delays, a groundswell of community activists argued that billions of dollars would be better spent on services and care than on new jails for women and people with mental illness. Around that time, the JusticeLA Coalition, with an infusion of resources, launched a vigorous campaign to stop the jail expansion while reimagining how dollars could be spent on community-based systems of care. 62 A notable leader in the coalition is Patrisse Cullors, a native Angeleno and co-founder of the Black Lives Matter Global Network, 63 whose brother has a mental illness and suffered greatly in the custody of the county jail. 64 The Board of Supervisors started to reconsider its plans.

After months of campaigning, and decades of advocacy, the board was persuaded to reverse action and agreed to halt construction of the new jails, first opting to stop the replacement of the women's jail and instead construct a large mental health facility,

and eventually canceling the construction contract altogether.65

To devise a new strategy, the board created the Alternative to Incarceration (ATI) Work Group comprised of representatives of county department and appointed community members. The work group embarked on a yearlong process to envision a system that prioritizes "treatment first and jail as a last resort."66 The group engaged more than 1,000 government and community stakeholders, resulting in a report with 114 recommendations focused on expanding diversion and alternatives to incarceration for some of the county's most vulnerable populations, including people with mental health and/or substance use issues, women, and LGBTQ+ people. 67 The recommendations aim not only to reform the criminal justice system, but also to build a community-based system of care to address the conditions that lead many people to jail in the first place.

Community-based Care and Alternative Responses: It Matters Where You Start

So often, justice reform efforts focus only on changing the justice system itself rather than imagining the alternatives necessary to address the social conditions that lead to acts of harm and violence. While the ATI Work Group did recommend important reforms to the justice system, over a third of its recommendations

⁶⁰ Agrawal, N. (2018, June 19). L.A. County supervisors approve \$2.2 billion to build replacement for Men's Central Jail. Los Angeles Times. https://www.latimes.com/local/ lanow/la-me-ln-jail-replacement-20180619-story.html

⁶¹ Macias Jr., M. (2019)

⁶² JusticeLA. (n.d.) The JusticeLA Coalition: Who we are. Retrieved July 9, 2022. https://justicelanow.org/about/

⁶³ Agrawal, N. (2017, September 26). Black Lives Matter, other activists protest to stop jail expansion. Los Angeles Times. https://www.latimes.com/local/lanow/la-me-lnblack-lives-matter-protests-jail-expansion-20170926-story.html

⁶⁴ Cullors, P. (2018, April 13). Op-ed: My brother's abuse in jail is a reason I co-founded Black Lives Matter. We need reform in L.A. Los Angeles Times. https://www.latimes. com/opinion/op-ed/la-oe-cullors-los-angeles-sheriff-jail-reform-20180413-story.html

⁶⁵ Walker, T. (2019, August 13). Updated – Supes vote to cancel controversial \$1.7 billion Men's Central Jail replacement contract. WitnessLA. https://witnessla.com/supesmay-vote-to-cancel-controversial-1-7-billion-mens-central-jail-replacement-contract-next-tuesday/

⁶⁶Los Angeles County Alternatives to Incarceration Work Group (2020, March 18)

⁶⁷ Ibid.

aim to create a coordinated ecosystem of preventive services and alternative responses to law enforcement. Like many justice reform efforts, the ATI Work Group used the Sequential Intercept Model (SIM), a conceptual framework to reduce justice system contact for people with mental health and substance use disorders. ⁶⁸ The traditional SIM defines Intercept Zero, the starting point, as a response to a mental health or substance use crisis, often as a collaboration between health professionals and law enforcement. ⁶⁹

In the ATI Work Group, community advocates pushed to expand and modify the traditional SIM. In thinking through points of intervention, they argued it necessary to focus on front-end prevention services rather than waiting until people are in crisis. In LA County, supportive services for housing, health, and employment are inadequately resourced. Many Angelenos lack access to health services because of economic and geographic barriers, so they cannot proactively identify and address issues such as mental health or substance use disorders. Services lack coordination and are too complex to navigate, so people are not connected to needed supports even when they are available. And many people have been alienated by health care systems and social services because of a legacy of structural racism and a lack of sensitivity to culture, gender, and sexuality. Others fear consequences based on immigration status, including possible disqualification for legal permanent residence based on the use of public benefits.

To begin to imagine policy interventions before the point of crisis, the ATI Work Group redefined Intercept Zero as a "Holistic and Decentralized Community-Based System of Care." This system is envisioned to help people before a point of crisis, to be accessible in the neighborhoods of highest need, and to include tailored support to individuals returning from incarceration to prevent recidivism. Policy recommendations aim to improve coordination to ensure that people can access all available resources. They also seek to build the capacity of nonprofits that provide rehabilitative services that are culturally rooted and gender responsive. These policy interventions can be less intrusive, can be less expensive in the long run, and can prevent a fragile situation from taking a turn for the worse. The work group put forth 34 recommendations on how the county can build such an ecosystem. Strategies to scale up a Holistic and Decentralized Community-Based System of Care are organized into seven categories:70

Holistic and Decentralized Community-Based System of Care: A coordinated, multisector system of agencies and clinics that provide services to improve individual and community health. These services include health care, housing, substance use support, job training, and reentry services, and they are meant to be accessible to all people regardless of their neighborhood, income, justice system involvement, or immigration status.

⁶⁸ Policy Research Associates (PRA). (2018, June). The SEQUENTIAL Intercept Model. https://www.prainc.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/06/PRA-SIM-Letter-Paper-2018.pdf

⁶⁹ Ibid

To Sangeles County Alternatives to Incarceration Work Group. (2020, February). ATI roadmap. https://lacalternatives.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/02/ATIRoadmapOnly_fixed.pdf

- Restorative Behavioral Health and Primary Care **Villages:** Create and expand service hubs across the county and incorporate coordinated teams to connect clients with optimal services.
- Families and Support Network: Ensure meaningful inclusion, engagement, and information sharing between the loved ones of people with behavioral health needs and the network of supportive services they are enrolled in.
- Restorative Justice and Trauma Prevention: Establish and expand restorative justice programs as well as violence and trauma prevention initiatives for justice-involved and LGBTQ+ communities.
- Mental Health, Substance Use, and Co-Occurring **Disorder:** Employ best practices and maximize resources to support people with mental health and substance use disorders, including harm reduction approaches.
- Housing and Services: Create and expand programs that provide housing and wraparound services for justice-involved communities and incentive programs to increase housing options and help people maintain housing.
- **Training and Employment:** Expand opportunities for supported employment for people with mental health and substance use problems, as well as for LGBTQ+ community members.
- Reentry and Legal Services: Remove barriers to employment due to prior convictions and increase access to services for people who are navigating the court system and/or reentering the community after incarceration.



For the full set of recommendations. see the Alternatives to Incarceration Work Group's Final Report: Care First. Jails Last: Health and Racial Justice Strategies for Safer Communities

Intercept One: Alternative Responses

The ATI Work Group modified the Sequential Intercept Model even further and redefined Intercept One to be "Community Response and Intervention Services" if a person is having a mental health crisis. In the traditional SIM, Intercept One is the point at which an individual interacts with law enforcement: however. the modified ATI intercept seeks to expand nonlaw-enforcement responses to crisis and follow-up services. The 10 recommendations within this intercept call for enhancing the Department of Mental Health (DMH) Psychiatric Mobile Response Teams for faster, 24-hour service. They also recommend expanding and diversifying noncrisis mobile response teams to follow through with clients, connect them with needed services, and avert further crises and involuntary hospitalization. The recommendations call for improved systems to identify clinical and bed availability, and to train 911 dispatchers to redirect calls involving behavioral health crises to the DMH ACCESS line when a law enforcement response is not required.

Behavioral health: The promotion of mental health, resilience, and well-being. Behavioral health care seeks to address underlying problems that drive behaviors that harm one's well-being, such as mental health problems, addiction, and substance use disorders. See Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration

ALTERNATIVES TO INCARCERATION INITIATIVE

Key facts and figures⁷¹

MILESTONES

- Establishment of the ATI Office and Jail Closure Implementation Team under the chief executive officer
- Men's Central Jail closure report released March 2021
- Justice, Care and Opportunities Department as a home for Office of Diversion and Reentry, pretrial services, and the ATI office, to be launched fall of 2022

FY 2021-2022 LA COUNTY SPENDING

- ATI Office budget: \$3.5 million
- Jail Closure Implementation Team budget: **\$2.5 million**
- Office of Diversion and Reentry budget: \$173 million
- LASD budget: **\$3.4 billion**
- Annual cost of LA County jails: **\$849 million**

ESTIMATED COSTS

■ LA County Office of Diversion and Reentry cost per day of wraparound housing and services for people with severe mental health problems: **\$150 per person**

Cost per day of incarceration in mental health unit:\$800 per person

NEED VERSUS INVESTMENT

FUNDING NEEDS:

- Care First Budget, created by community groups with broad expertise across sectors, identifies \$2 billion in needed investment for diversion, health, housing, reentry, youth, education, and economic development programs in LA County
- Estimate for the community-based system of care needed to divert 3,600 people to close Men's Central Jail:
 \$238 million for the first year

KEY INVESTMENTS MADE:

- **\$29.9 million** to the Department of Mental Health's crisis and outreach efforts
- Care First Community Investment included
 \$42 million to divert people with behavioral health issues into treatment to close Men's Central Jail,
 \$17 million for more diversion and pretrial services, and \$21 million for housing and reentry programs

 $^{^{71}}$ For a full set of citations, see <u>Appendix B</u>

Policy Area II: Youth Justice Reimagined

Adolescence is a time of experimentation and boundary pushing. Data show that, across Western nations, people are more likely to be involved in crime in their teens, with these behaviors declining as they age into their 20s.72 Brain development continues into the mid-20s in areas such as impulse control, pointing to why criminal involvement often ceases as juveniles become adults.73

Justice system involvement is particularly detrimental to youth as it impairs development, exposes youth to negative influences, and harms connections with school and family.74 It also interrupts desistance, the process by which youth age out of criminal behavior. 75 Once a juvenile is arrested, they are significantly more likely to be rearrested, setting off a cycle of recidivism. 76 Rearrest rates within three years of a juvenile's release from confinement can commonly be as high as 75%.⁷⁷

All too often, involvement in the justice system starts early and it starts in schools. An analysis of FBI data found that from 2013 to 2018, over 30,000 children under the age of 10 were arrested in the United States. 78 Data from 2018 show that 85% of these arrests were for nonserious offenses.79 About 1% of schools had police presence in the mid-1970s, as compared with 60% of schools today.80 And, in the 2013 academic year, nearly 70,000 students were arrested in about 8,000 schools across the country.81 School arrests have a disproportionate impact on students of color, particularly Black students.82

Progress and Persistent Challenges in Los Angeles

In recent decades, youth arrests for violent crimes and rates of juvenile incarceration have dropped by over 50%.83 Following state and national trends, LA County saw a 78% decrease in youth incarceration from 2002 to 2020.84 While this is great progress, the county faces persistent challenges. The county Probation Department, which is charged with the

⁷² National Institute of Justice (NIJ). (2014, March 10). From youth justice involvement to young adult offending. https://nij.ojp.gov/topics/articles/juvenile-delinquencv-vouna-adult-offending

⁷³ Jannetta, J., & Okeke, C. (2017, November). Strategies for reducing criminal and juvenile justice involvement. Urban Institute. https://www.urban.org/sites/default/files/ publication/94516/strategies-for-reducing-criminal-and-juvenile-justice-involvement.pdf.pdf

⁷⁴ Ibid.

⁷⁶ Liberman, A. M., Kirk, D. S., & Kim, K. (2014, February). Labeling effects of first juvenile arrests: secondary deviance and secondary sanctioning. Urban Institute. https://www.urban.org/sites/default/files/publication/33701/413274-Labeling-Effects-of-First-Juvenile-Arrests-Secondary-Deviance-and-Secondary-Sanctioning.PDF

Seigle, E., Walsh, N., & Weber, J. (2014). Core principles for reducing recidivism and improving other outcomes for youth in the juvenile justice system. Council of State Governments Justice Center. https://csgjusticecenter.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/01/Juvenile-Justice-White-Paper-with-Appendices-1-1.pdf

TR Hutchinson, B. (2019, October 1). More than 30,000 children under age 10 have been arrested in the US since 2013: FBI. ABC News. https://abcnews.go.com/US/30000children-age-10-arrested-us-2013-fbi/story?id=65798787

⁸⁰ Gershon, L. (2020, June 26). Why do we have cops in schools? JSTOR Daily. https://daily.jstor.org/why-do-we-have-cops-in-schools/

Education Week. (2017). Which students are arrested the most? https://www.edweek.org/which-students-are-arrested-most-in-school-u-s-data-by-school#/overview.

⁸² Blad, E., & Harwin, A. (2017, January 24). Black students more likely to be arrested at school. Education Week. https://www.edweek.org/leadership/black-studentsmore-likely-to-be-arrested-at-school/2017/01

⁸³ Butts, J. (2019, November 6). Youth still leading violent crime drop: 1988-2018. John Jay Research and Evaluation Center. https://johnjayrec.nyc/2019/11/06/ databits201901/

⁸⁴ Board of State and Community Corrections (2020, May 21). Board of State and Community Corrections Juvenile Detention Profile Survey. https://bscc.ca.gov/wp-content/uploads/JDPS-1Q2002-1Q2020.pdf

custody and supervision of justice-involved youth, has been plagued with issues such as excessive use of pepper spray,⁸⁵ sexual assault,⁸⁶ and a ballooning budget despite dramatic declines in the population of incarcerated youth.⁸⁷ In September 2021, the state oversight board found that both of the juvenile halls were "unsuitable for the confinement of youth,"⁸⁸ and in March 2022 the Probation Department hastily emptied Central Juvenile Hall because of ongoing issues including excessive use of room confinement.⁸⁹

From 2014 to 2017, one in four arrests made by the Los Angeles School Police Department — a standalone agency with 211 sworn police officers⁹⁰ — was of an elementary or middle school-aged student.⁹¹ In 2021, in response to mounting pressure from advocates, the LA Unified School District Board of Education cut the agency's budget by about a third.⁹² The cut totaled \$25 million and 133 positions, including 70 sworn officers.⁹³ Police were also removed from school campuses and barred from using pepper

spray.⁹⁴ The board redirected the \$25 million and an additional \$11.5 million to hire school climate coaches, nurses, and counselors, and to support Black student achievement.⁹⁵

Although numbers have dropped, youth in the LA County juvenile justice system remain in great need of support. A 2019 assessment by the Department of Mental Health found that the "County's juvenile justice system is the product of a juvenile incarceration model that is flawed and fundamentally fails to adequately meet the current developmental and mental health needs of youth and their families." The assessment found that as the population of incarcerated youth declined, those who continued to be detained were significantly more likely to have mental health issues, particularly trauma-related and substance use disorders, and that they were more likely to have faced sexual exploitation, homelessness, and a variety of other severe stressors. The assessment for the severe stressors.

Bermont, B. (2019, February 4). LA County watchdog says Probation Department plagued with overuse of pepper spray on youth, overburdened internal affairs unit. Los Angeles Daily News. https://www.dailynews.com/2019/02/04/la-county-watchdog-says-probation-department-plagued-with-overuse-of-pepper-spray-on-youth-overburdened-internal-affairs-unit/

EFF. Fremon, C. (2018, June 25). #MeToo behind bars: Will proposed \$1 million settlement on case of alleged sexual assault of girl by LA County juvenile probation officer help push department reform? WitnessLA. https://witnessla.com/will-proposed-1-settlement-on-case-of-alleged-sexual-assault-of-girl-by-la-county-juvenile-probation-officer-help-push-department-reform/: and Winton, R. (2022, March 9). Widespread sexual abuse of girls plagued L.A. County detention camp, women allege. Los Angeles Times. https://www.latimes.com/california/story/2022-03-09/vast-sex-abuse-of-girls-at-l-a-detention-camp-suit-shows

⁸⁷ Loudenback, J. (2020, September 23). Shocking sticker price for locking up youth in L.A. County: Calls grow for cheaper, more humane alternatives. Imprint News. https://imprintnews.org/los-angeles/shocking-sticker-price-for-locking-up-youth-in-l-a-county-calls-grow-for-cheaper-more-humane-alternatives/47621

^{**}Cosgrove, J., & Miller, L. (2021, September 18). L.A. County juvenile halls are "unsuitable for the confinement of youth," state board finds. Los Angeles Times. https://www.latimes.com/california/story/2021-09-18/state-finds-l-a-county-juvenile-halls-unsuitable-for-the-confinement-of-youth

⁸⁹ Queally, J. (2022, March 6). "We're screwed": L.A. County empties troubled juvenile hall ahead of state board's inspection. Los Angeles Times. https://www.latimes.com/california/story/2022-03-16/la-county-empties-central-juvenile-hall-ahead-of-state-inspection

⁹⁰ Los Angeles School Police Department. (n.d.). About us. Retrieved March 14, 2022. https://achieve.lausd.net/Page/15609

⁹¹Allen, T., Bryan, I., Guerrero, A., Teng, A., & Lytle Hernandez, K. (2018, October). Policing our students. Million Dollar Hoods. http://milliondollarhoods.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/10/Policing-Our-Students-MDH-Report-Final.pdf.

⁹² Gomez, M. (2021, February 16). L.A. school board cuts its police force and diverts funds for Black student achievement. Los Angeles Times. https://www.latimes.com/california/story/2021-02-16/lausd-diverting-school-police-funds-support-black-students

⁹³ Ibid

⁹⁴ Tat, L. (2021, February 18). Police officers will no longer be stationed at LAUSD campuses. The Mercury News. https://www.mercurynews.com/2021/02/18/cops-will-no-longer-be-stationed-at-lausd-campuses/.

⁹⁵ Ibia

⁹⁶ Sherin, J. E. (2019, April 26). Report response on the office of inspector general investigation and improving mental health treatment and safety in the juvenile facilities. Los Angeles County Department of Mental Health. http://file.lacounty.gov/SDSInter/bos/supdocs/137012.pdf

⁹⁷ Ibid.

The mission and culture of law enforcement agencies, including probation, are focused on compliance and enforcement rather than support. To overcome challenges, young people need to feel comfortable being honest, heal from experiences, and be given the opportunity to learn from mistakes. The constant threat of probation violations and incarceration makes it virtually impossible for a probation officer or other law enforcement agents to truly promote youth development for young people with the highest level of need. For this reason, 20 states situate their juvenile justice systems within a health or child welfare agency, rather than law enforcement and corrections.98

After years of attempts at probation reform, the LA County Board of Supervisors recognized the status quo as "fundamentally flawed" and that housing juvenile justice within a law enforcement agency may be "counterproductive."99 In a motion passed unanimously in August 2019 — the same day the board voted to end the \$2.2 billion jail contract — the board declared that moving "towards a rehabilitative, care-first model is not just ideal, it is necessary, and likely requires a different structure and framework to achieve."100 With that, the board initiated a yearlong collaborative process and created the Youth Justice Work Group, comprised of youth leaders, community organizations, youth-serving government agencies and justice partners, to explore transitioning youth out of probation into a "rehabilitative, health-focused and care-first system.101

Youth Justice Reimagined

The culmination of the Youth Justice Work Group's yearlong process is Youth Justice Reimagined, an innovative plan to phase youth out of the Probation Department and into a new

Youth Justice Reimagined Vision: By 2030, through an intentional focus on equitable investments in Black, Indigenous, and People of Color (BIPOC) and their communities, all youth in Los Angeles County have access to Youth Development resources and opportunities promoting their well-being and safety and that of their families and communities. In every community, systems are accountable to the people they affect, address the root causes of conflict and harm, and empower youth to develop accountability and responsibility to repair harm.

Department of Youth Development within five years. 102 The plan is guided by a long-term vision, rooted in a countywide system of youth development and principles of restorative and transformative justice.

Youth Justice Reimagined will help create safer communities because, like the Alternatives to Incarceration Work Group, it focuses not only on changes to the justice system itself, but also on the countywide system of youth development needed to promote well-being and prevent system involvement. Creating supportive environments for youth is essential to building healthy communities, as stress and trauma can harm childhood development and affect adult decision-making.¹⁰³ Many of the youth at highest risk of criminal behavior are also at the highest risk of crime victimization.104

Youth Justice Reimagined envisions key community supports, coordinated by a new Department of Youth

se Ridley-Thomas, M., & Kuehl, S. (2019, August 13). Restructuring the juvenile justice system: Building a health-focused model. http://file.lacounty.gov/SDSInter/bos/supdocs/139730.pdf

⁹⁹ Ibid.

¹⁰⁰ Ibid.

¹⁰¹ Ibid.

¹⁰² W. Haywood Burns Institute. (2020, October). Youth justice reimagined: Recommendations of the Los Angeles County Youth Justice Work Group. https://lacyouthjustice. org/wp-content/uploads/2020/10/Youth-Justice-Reimagined-1.pdf

¹⁰³ Sharkey, P. (2010). The acute effect of local homicides on children's cognitive performance. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 107(26),11733-38 https://www.pnas.org/doi/abs/10.1073/pnas.1000690107; and Shonkoff, J. P., & Garner, A. S. (2012). The lifelong effects of early childhood adversity and toxic stress. Pediatrics, 129(1). https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2011-2663

¹⁰⁴ Jannetta & Okeke (2017)



To learn more about the full set of recommendations, see <u>Youth Justice</u> Reimagined: Recommendations of the Los Angeles County Youth Justice Work Group

Development,

from getting in

the first place

and reduce

trouble in

to prevent youth

contact with the justice system. One component is a network of 24-hour youth and community centers to act as hubs for programming, restorative processes, and communityrooted support. 105 The plan also proposes embedding youth development workers, such as restorative justice practitioners and credible messengers, in schools to help change school culture, mentor youth, and respond to conflict with restorative approaches. The plan proposes leveraging schools as after-hours youth

development sites, with holistic youth and family

programming from 3 to 10 p.m.¹⁰⁶

The new department would also aim to divert youth out of the justice system through an Office of Diversion and Restorative Practices. Instead of being arrested, most youth would be diverted through this office to community-based organizations that provide programming, case management, and restorative justice services. This will make sure youth do not land in juvenile hall or on probation supervision when they could be better served in the community and allow for a restorative approach to creating accountability if a young person caused harm. To reduce the traumatic and detrimental impacts of youth incarceration, the Department of Youth Development would house the small number of youth awaiting trial and serving sentences in therapeutic, homelike settings through an Office of Youth Housing and Reentry. 107

Youth Justice Reimagined is built on seven foundational components:108

- Countywide Coordination and Capacity-Building: Coordination across youth-serving systems, such as schools and the Juvenile Court; and building capacity among agencies and organizations to address youth needs more effectively.
- Youth Development Network (YDN): Communitybased network to prevent system involvement, including 24-hour Youth and Community Centers.
- Investment in Diversion Expansion: Countywide Youth Diversion and Development model, for a restorative approach to reduce contact with the justice system.
- Youth Empowerment and Support (YES) Teams: Collaborative, multidisciplinary teams to help respond to incidents of youth crime and inform decisionmaking throughout the youth legal system. YES Teams will build meaningful relationships with youth and families and bring an asset-based, culturally rooted lens to inform justice-related decisions.
- Homelike, Community-Based Therapeutic Housing and Reentry: Homelike supportive housing with a range of security levels for the small number of youth required to stay in custody, with connections to reentry programming.
- Supportive Youth Development Services and Credible Messengers: Intensive community-based support through credible messengers, including care coordination and restorative processes, rather than traditional compliance-focused supervision.
- Transparency and Accountability Mechanisms: Comprehensive transparency and accountability measures, including youth and community oversight bodies.

¹⁰⁵ W. Haywood Burns Institute (2020), page 17

¹⁰⁶ W. Haywood Burns Institute (2020), page 48

¹⁰⁷ W. Haywood Burns Institute (2020), page 67

¹⁰⁸ W. Haywood Burns Institute (2020), page 42

YOUTH JUSTICE REIMAGINED

Key facts and figures 109

MILESTONES

- Establishment of Youth Justice Advisory Group for continued implementation planning across seven work groups in 2021
- LA City Department of Youth Development established in 2021
- Department of Youth Development launched in July 2022

FY 2021-2022 LA CITY AND COUNTY SPENDING

- LA County Division of Youth Diversion and Development (YDD) budget: \$26.1 million
- LA City Department of Youth Development budget: **\$1.4 million**
- LA County Probation juvenile operations budget:\$570 million
- LA County Juvenile incarceration budget: **\$405 million**

ESTIMATED COSTS

- Cost per year of pre-arrest diversion: \$7,000 per youth
- Cost per year for juvenile incarceration:
 - \$1 million per youth
- Cost per year of juvenile probation field supervision:\$23,125

NEED VERSUS INVESTMENT

FUNDING NEEDS:

- Phase 1 of Youth Justice Reimagined: \$75 million, including \$55 million to community-based organizations
- Estimated need for launching the Department of Youth Development and Youth Justice Reimagined:

\$152.5 million

KEY INVESTMENTS MADE:

- **\$27.4 million** for a Youth Justice Reimagined Development Fund
- \$17.3 million for YDD Expansion
- **\$11 million** to Youth Development and Education through the Care First Community Investment
- \$1.5 million to Arts for Justice-Involved Youth in American Rescue Plan Act funding

¹⁰⁹ For a full set of citations, see <u>Appendix C</u>

Policy Area III: Violence Intervention

As criminal justice reforms gain momentum across the country, they are most often focused on nonviolent offenses. However, if the nation truly wants to combat mass incarceration and "reimagine" public safety, it is necessary to invest in effective solutions to break cycles of violence. As in many cities, the response to the epidemic of violence in Los Angeles for decades was heavy-handed policing and mass incarceration. However, when the city invested in an alternative approach, safety increased in the most affected communities.

Community violence: Violence between individuals, who may or may not know each other, that generally happens outside the home. Common examples include physical fights among groups and shootings in public spaces such as parks, schools, or apartment complexes. <u>See Centers for Disease</u> Control and Prevention.

> Community safety in Los Angeles and cities across the United States has improved dramatically since violent crime peaked in the early 1990s. 110 Nonetheless, violence remains a cause of concern and anxiety in many communities. While mass shootings grab the most headlines, most gun violence takes place in historically

underfunded neighborhoods and disproportionately affects young men of color, particularly Black men. 111 In 2020, the nation saw a 29% increase in homicides, 112 and homicides continued to climb in 2021. 113 The 10 most "dangerous" cities in the United States saw rates of violent crime over four times the national average. 114 Meanwhile, poverty in almost all of these cities is two to three times the average rate.115

In 2018, over 20% of violent crimes in the United States were for domestic violence. 116 And, according to the U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 1 in 4 women and nearly 1 in 10 men report having experienced severe physical violence from an intimate partner in their lifetime. 117 The presence of a gun makes it five times more likely that a domestic violence incident will result in homicide. 118

Nationally, only about 40% of violent crimes and 32% of property crimes went reported.¹¹⁹ Underreporting is likely even more acute in situations of domestic and partner violence. 120 Of the fraction of crimes that are reported, only about 45% of violent crimes and 17% of property crimes are "cleared" by police, meaning the cases were closed.¹²¹ This demonstrates that the criminal justice system alone is inadequate at addressing and preventing violent crime.

¹⁰ Gramlich, J. (2020, November 20). What the data says (and doesn't say) about crime in the United States. Pew Research Center. https://www.pewresearch.org/facttank/2020/11/20/facts-about-crime-in-the-u-s/

¹¹ Everytown Research & Policy. (n.d.). City gun violence. Retrieved July 9, 2022. https://everytownresearch.org/issue/city-gun-violence/

¹¹² Stebbins, S. (2021, November 12). America's most dangerous cities. 24/7 Wall St. https://247wallst.com/special-report/2021/11/12/americas-most-dangerous-cities-2/

¹¹³ Council on Criminal Justice. (2022, January 24). Pandemic, social unrest, and crime in U.S. cities: Year-end 2021 update. https://counciloncj.org/crime-trends-yearend-2021-update/

¹¹⁴ Stebbins (2021)

¹⁶ Morgan, R. E., & Oudekerk, B. A. (2019, September). Criminal victimization, 2018. U.S. Department of Justice, Bureau of Justice Statistics. https://www.bjs.gov/content/pub/pdf/ cv18.pdf

To Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2021, November 2). Preventing intimate partner violence. https://www.cdc.gov/violenceprevention/intimatepartnerviolence/fastfact. html#:~:text=IPV%20is%20common.&text=Data%20from%20CDC's%20National%20Intimate.form%20Of%20IPV%2Drelated%20impact

¹¹⁸ National Coalition Against Domestic Violence. (n.d.). Statistics. Retrieved March 12, 2022. https://ncadv.org/STATISTICS#:~:text=On%20average%2C%2onearly%2020%20people,10%20million%20women%20and%20men.&text=1%20in%203%20women%20and,violence%20by%20an%20intimate%20partner

¹²⁰ Langston, L., Berzofsky, M., Krebs, C., & Smiley-McDonald, H. (2021, August). Victimizations not-reported to the police: 2006-2010. Bureau of Justice Statistics. https://www.bjs. gov/content/pub/pdf/vnrp0610.pdf

¹²¹ Gramlich (2020)

Historically, much of the violence in Los Angeles was due to conflict among rival gangs. In response, law enforcement agencies relied on aggressive suppression tactics that targeted whole communities, often harming and alienating the people most affected by violence. 122 In the late 1990s, the Rampart scandal exposed widespread violence and corruption inside an LAPD gang unit. 123 And just in the past few years, significant evidence shows that "deputy gangs" have operated within the Los Angeles County Sheriff's Department for decades.¹²⁴ In 2007, a groundbreaking report titled A Call to Action showed that, after spending \$25 billion on a 30-year "war on gangs," LA County had six times as many gangs and increasing violence, and that gang participation had grown to over 100,000 active members. 125 After decades of failed attempts to quell violence through heavy-handed policing, the report pushed the city to try an asset-based, comprehensive violence reduction strategy that significantly improved safety in Los Angeles.

Violence Intervention

Violence intervention is based on the premise that violence can spread like a contagious disease and that it can also be treated and prevented. 126 Violence intervention, also known as violence interruption, is largely focused on community violence and can take various forms including street outreach, hospital intervention, and Safe Passage to provide safe routes to and from school. 127 Violence intervention workers can play many roles, such as responding to shootings to stop retaliation, connecting people at highest risk with opportunities for employment and education, and promoting anti-violence norms. 128 These programs have proven to be greatly successful.

Street outreach: Outreach done by community violence intervention workers or "interrupters" that aims to identify and mediate conflict, respond to acts of violence to stop retaliation, and build relationships with those at highest risk of causing or being victims of violence to offer them comprehensive support and help them change behavior that puts them at risk of harm.

Hospital intervention: A method of violence intervention that seeks to engage victims of violence while they are still in the hospital setting, such as the trauma unit, to offer them case management, counseling, and other services, and to prevent retaliation. Hospital intervention seeks to leverage the unique moment when someone is recovering from violence, to provide them needed support and help people to turn their lives around so more harm is not inflicted.

Safe Passage: Programs that seek to create pedestrian safety in areas that experience high rates of violence. Safe Passage programs are often focused on creating safety for children and teenagers to walk to and from school. They can involve violence intervention workers, parents, residents, school leaders, and, in some cases, law enforcement. Some Safe Passage programs also involve walking clubs to build community cohesion and provide safety for people to walk in their neighborhoods.

[💯] Moore, S. (2007, September 13). Gangs grow, but hard line stirs doubts. The New York Times. https://www.nytimes.com/2007/09/13/us/13gang.html? r=1&pagewanted=all

¹²² PBS Frontline. (n.d.). Official reports and reviews on the Rampart scandal. Retrieved July 9, 2022. https://www.pbs.org/wgbh/pages/frontline/shows/lapd/later/reports.html.

¹²⁴ Loyola Law School, Center for Juvenile Law and Policy. (2021, January). 50 years of deputy gangs in the Los Angeles County Sheriff's Department. https://www.lls.edu/academics/centers/centerforjuvenilelawpolicy/cjlpdeputygangreport/

¹²⁵ Advancement Project. (2013). A call to action: Los Angeles' quest to achieve community safety. https://static1.squarespace.com/static/55B673coe4Bocf84699bdffb/t/5a18975ce-2c483f5adad4e41/1511561073158/AP%2BCall%2BT0%2BAction_LA%2BQuest%2Bto%2BAchieve%2BCommunity%2BSafety%2BFINAL%2B2013.pdf

¹²⁶ Butts, J. A., Roman, C. G., Bostwick, L., & Porter, J. R. (2015). Cure Violence: A public health model to reduce gun violence. Annual Review of Public Health, 36(1), 39–53. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-publhealth-031914-122509

¹²⁷ Everytown Research & Policy. (2020, October 15). Community-led public safety strategies. https://everytownresearch.org/report/community-led-public-safety-strategies/

¹²⁸ Butts et al. (2015)

In Chicago's West Garfield Park neighborhood, the Cure Violence program reduced shootings by 67% in its first year. 129 The Safe Streets program in Baltimore's Cherry Hill neighborhood was associated with a 56% reduction in homicides and a 34% reduction in nonfatal shootings. 130

Violence intervention workers must have close ties to the people they serve. They build meaningful relationships with individuals at highest risk of violence victimization, often the same people at highest risk of causing harm. To be effective, they must be "credible messengers." Many of the most effective intervention workers were formerly involved in gangs, served time in prison, and have turned their lives around. They have shared experiences with those they work with and continue to hold deep relationships in their neighborhoods.

GRYD: Public Investment in Violence Intervention

While a growing number of government public health offices are now dedicated to addressing violence, ¹³² including the LA County Office of Violence Prevention launched in 2019, ¹³³ the Los Angeles Mayor's Office of Gang Reduction and Youth Development (GRYD) is one of the first and longest-standing public investments in coordinated, community-based violence intervention. Building on the successes and failures of past efforts, in 2008 the GRYD launched a comprehensive strategy to reduce violence in 12 zones hit hardest by gang violence. ¹³⁴

The office now operates in 23 zones and contracts with over 20 locally rooted, community-based providers for both prevention and intervention services. 135

The GRYD Comprehensive Strategy is unique because it incorporates community engagement and does not include law enforcement suppression as one of its components. There are four pillars of the comprehensive strategy: 137

- Community Engagement: To involve community members in promoting peace, and to connect them to services that strengthen community cohesion and civic engagement. This includes pop-up events, community education campaigns, and a gun buyback program.
- **Gang Prevention:** Multidisciplinary services and engagement, aimed at youth ages 10 to 15 at high risk of gang involvement.
- **Gang Intervention:** Community- and individual-level services to reduce social embeddedness in gangs and promote positive decision-making among individuals ages 14 to 25, including a Family Case Management Program.
- **Violence Interruption:** Swift and proactive responses to violence including proactive peacemaking, such as establishing peace agreements among rival groups, and directly responding to incidents of violence through an established protocol to control rumors, stop retaliation, and provide services to grieving families.

¹²⁹ The Justice Collaborative Institute. (2020, June). The case for violence interruption programs as an alternative to policing. https://3oglxtjojh81xn8rx26pr5af-wpengine.netd-na-ssl.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/12/20.06_Violence-Interruption-1-1.pdf

¹³⁰ Webster, D. W., Whitehill, J. M., Vernick, J. S., & Parker, E. M. (2012, January 11). Evaluation of Baltimore's Safe Streets program: Effects on attitudes, participants' experiences, and gun violence. Johns Hopkins Center for the Prevention of Youth Violence. https://www.jhsph.edu/research/centers-and-institutes/center-for-prevention-of-youth-violence/field_reports/2012_01_11.Executive%20SummaryofSafeStreetsEval.pdf

¹³¹ Jannetta & Okeke (2017)

¹³² Center for American Progress. (2021, February 2). Release: 20+ cities launch national offices of Violence Prevention Network, building on the movement to reimagine public safety. https://www.americanprogress.org/press/release/2021/02/02/495297/release-20-cities-launch-national-offices-violence-prevention-network-building-movement-reimagine-public-safety/_

¹³³ County of Los Angeles Public Health. (n.d.). Countywide OVP (Office of Violence Prevention). Retrieved July 9, 2022. http://www.publichealth.lacounty.gov/ovp/ovp_countywide.htm

¹³⁴ Tremblay, A. C., Herz, D. C., Zachery, R., & Kraus, M. (2020, June). The City of Los Angeles Mayor's Office of Gang Reduction and Youth Development (GRYD) comprehensive strategy. https://www.juvenilejusticeresearch.com/sites/default/files/2020-08/GRYD%20Brief%201_GRYD%20Comprehensive%20Strategy_6.2020.pdf

¹³⁵ City of Los Angeles Mayor's Office of Gang Reduction and Youth Development (GRYD). (n.d.). Prevention providers. Retrieved July 9, 2022. https://www.lagryd.org/prevention.html: and "City of Los Angeles Mayor's Office of Gang Reduction and Youth Development (GRYD). (n.d.). Intervention providers. Retrieved July 9, 2022. https://www.lagryd.org/intervention.html.

¹³⁶ Tremblay et al. (2020)

¹³⁷ Ibid.

Violence typically spikes in the summer, and Summer Night Lights is a cornerstone of GRYD programming. This program creates safe spaces for neighbors to come together for nighttime activities in the summer and fall. Resources are deployed to 32 parks in communities affected by gang violence, including free meals and sports leagues. Hundreds of young people from those communities are hired to put on the Summer Night Lights events. 138

The asset-based approach implemented through GRYD and other violence intervention efforts has proven extremely effective. A recent evaluation found an 18% reduction in violent crime in areas with GRYD Comprehensive Strategy services. ¹³⁹ Another evaluation found that when LAPD alone responds to a gang-related homicide, the likelihood of a retaliatory assault or homicide is 46% and 26%, respectively. When LAPD and gang intervention respond to the scene, each from their respective lane, the percentages drop to 10% and below 1%, respectively. ¹⁴⁰ Other programs around the country, such as Cure Violence and Advance Peace, have also proven to dramatically decrease violence. ¹⁴¹

Another evaluation found that when LAPD alone responds to a gang-related homicide, the likelihood of a retaliatory assault or homicide is 46% and 26%, respectively. When LAPD and gang intervention respond to the scene, each from their respective lane, the percentages drop to 10% and below 1%, respectively. 140

Interrupting Violence at Home

While violence intervention has largely focused on community violence, many principles of the public health approach can be applied to addressing domestic and intimate partner violence. There is a growing call to move away from justice system responses to family and partner violence, toward more preventative and restorative approaches that address root causes. 142 While the criminal justice system has received the majority of Violence Against Women Act (VAWA) grant funding — a share that has substantially grown over the past few decades — a survey by the National Domestic Violence Hotline found that 75% of women who reported abuse to law enforcement said it either had no impact or made them less safe. 143 Many justice system responses to domestic violence have proven harmful or ineffective, creating a need for new approaches that are culturally relevant and which seek to heal those who have caused harm. One example is the Domestic Violence Intervention Program at Homeboy Industries in Los Angeles. The program serves gang-affiliated individuals who have harmed their partners and uses approaches to build trust and heal from past traumas to transform their lives and relationships and stop cycles of violence.144

¹³⁸ City of Los Angeles Mayor's Office of Gang Reduction and Youth Development (GRYD). (n.d.). Summer Night Lights. Retrieved July 9, 2022. https://www.lagryd.org/summer-niaht-liahts.html

¹³⁹ Brantingham, P. J., Tita, G., & Herz, D. (2021). The impact of the City of Los Angeles Mayor's Office of Gang Reduction and Youth Development (GRYD) comprehensive strategy on crime in the city of Los Angeles. Justice Evaluation Journal, 4(2), 217–236. https://doi.org/10.1080/24751979.2021.1887709

¹⁴⁰ Brantingham, P. J., Sundback, N., Yan, B., & Chan, K. (2017). GRYD intervention incident response & gang crime 2017 evaluation report. California State University, Los Angeles. https://static1.squarespace.com/static/55b673coe4bocf84699bdffb/t/5a186563914ob7C3o6d73f65/1511548270788/GRYD+Intervention+Incident+Respose+2017.pd

¹⁴¹The Justice Collaborative Institute (2020)

¹⁴² Philpart, M., Grant, S., & Guzmán, J. (2019). Healing together: Shifting approaches to end intimate partner violence. PolicyLink, Alliance for Boys and Men of Color. https://www.policylink.org/sites/default/files/pl_report_healing_FINAL_10-18-19.pdf

¹⁴³ Ibid.

¹⁴⁴ Ibid.

VIOLENCE INTERVENTION

Key facts and figures 145

MILESTONES

- Los Angeles County Department of Public Health launched the Trauma Prevention Initiative in 2015
- Los Angeles County Department of Public Health established the Office of Violence Prevention in 2019
- California Violence Intervention and Prevention (CalVIP) Grant Program established in 2019
- Biden administration features community violence interventions as part of the White House's Comprehensive Strategy to Prevent and Respond to Gun Crime and Ensure Public Safety
- The U.S. Department of the Treasury provided guidance to use American Rescue Plan Act funds for holistic, evidence-based approaches to reducing community violence
- California CRISES Grant Pilot Program was established in October 2021 to create and strengthen community-based alternatives to law enforcement as first responders to crisis situations

FY 2021-2022 LA CITY AND COUNTY SPENDING

■ GRYD Office: \$32.5 million

■ Summer Night Lights: \$4 million

■ LA County Office of Violence Prevention: **\$3 million**

■ LAPD: **\$1.8 billion**

■ LASD: **\$3.4 billion**

ESTIMATED COSTS

- Estimated cost of each homicide to the criminal justice system, the victim's family and society-at-large: \$8.9 million
- Estimated yearly cost savings to city of LA through GRYD incident response: \$55 million

NEED VERSUS INVESTMENT

FUNDING NEEDS:

■ Los Angeles Violence Intervention Coalition has called for \$400 million over three years to raise wages, improve access to mental health services, and increase the number of violence intervention workers and peace ambassadors across the county

KEY INVESTMENTS MADE:

- \$2.5 million in additional GRYD funding and \$2.4 million in additional Summer Night Lights funding in mayor's FY 2022–2023 recommended budget
- **\$5 million** in one-time funding to expand trauma prevention initiative and **\$1.3 million** (over three years) for Crisis Response and Violence Interruption Program (CRVIP) pilot project
- **\$20 million** for violence prevention initiatives through American Rescue Plan funding

¹⁴⁵ For a full set of citations, see <u>Appendix D</u>

PART IV: CHALLENGES AND PROMISE AHEAD

Three transformational policy areas in Los Angeles County — Alternatives to Incarceration, Youth Justice Reimagined, and Violence Intervention — build infrastructures for community health and lay a foundation for a comprehensive approach to creating safety. While they bring great promise, their implementation is not without challenges. The LA County Board of Supervisors has many detailed recommendations to implement in these three policy agendas, but they have struggled to move plans forward at the scale needed.¹⁴⁶

Not surprisingly, one of the greatest challenges is funding. Many of the policies outlined in this report have proven more cost efficient than the status quo. But, in a county of over 10 million people, they require hundreds of millions of dollars to establish and even more to fully implement. The county has made laudable efforts and some significant investments in recent years, but more is needed to meet the true needs of its residents. Communities in LA have experienced extensive, multigenerational harm due to structural racism, violence, mass incarceration, deportation, an ever-accelerating housing crisis, and major loss due to the COVID-19 pandemic. Building the systems of care and safety envisioned in these three policy areas will require massive public investment, capacity building

of nonprofits, workforce development in affected communities, and a level of political will that has not fully materialized among bureaucratic hurdles and competing interests.

While these challenges cannot be ignored, there has been significant progress. In November 2020, advocates — with the support of the Los Angeles County Board of Supervisors — introduced Measure J. The ballot measure amends the county charter to require that 10% of locally generated, unrestricted county funds be spent on services such as housing, mental health, and economic development in communities disproportionately affected by systemic racism and mass incarceration, and prohibits these funds from being used on law enforcement or carceral settings.147 Although the measure is being challenged in court by the sheriff deputies union, 148 it was supported by almost 60% of LA County voters¹⁴⁹ and the Board of Supervisors chose to move forward with an initial \$100 million through the Care First Community Investment (CFCI) and an additional \$87.7 million from American Rescue Plan Act funding.¹⁵⁰ The CFCI investment will be renewed in the coming fiscal year,151 and other notable investments have been made in areas such as mental health crisis response, Youth Justice Reimagined, and violence prevention.

⁴⁶ Tchekmedyian, A. (2022, March 30). After years of talk, little progress on closing L.A. County's aging jail. Los Angeles Times. https://www.latimes.com/california/story/2022-03-30/mens-central-jail-closure-update; Dugdale, E. E. (2022); Castillo, M., & Salcedo, B. (2022, February 7). Op-ed: Voters wanted big change from Measure J. Why hasn't L.A. seen it yet? Los Angeles Times. https://www.latimes.com/opinion/story/2022-02-07/criminal-justice-los-angeles-measure-j; and Brown, N. (2021, October 13). Los Angeles County needs to put the money behind its motion to help justice-involved youth. The Imprint. https://imprintnews.org/opinion/los-angeles-county-needs-toput-the-money-behind-its-motion-to-help-justice-involved-youth/59587

MT Cosgrove, J. (2020, November 3). L.A. County voters approve Measure J, providing new funding for social services. Los Angeles Times. https://www.latimes.com/california/ story/2020-11-03/2020-la-election-tracking-measure-j

¹⁴⁸ Tchekmedyian, A. (2021, June 17). Judge says sweeping L.A. criminal justice reform measure is unconstitutional. Los Angeles Times. https://www.latimes.com/california/ story/2021-06-17/measure-j-unconstitutional

¹⁵⁰ County of Los Angeles Chief Executive Office. (2021, August 10). Transformative \$187.7 million 'Care First Community Investment" spending plan invests in equity and community. https://ceo.lacounty.gov/2021/08/10/ati-newsroom/care-first-community-investment-spending-plan-invests-in-equity-and-community/

¹⁵¹ Davenport (2022, April 19)

In 2020, LA County voters also passed Measure R, which granted the Sheriff Civilian Oversight Commission subpoena power and mandated a plan to reduce the jail population, 152 and elected as district attorney George Gascón, a progressive prosecutor who promised big changes.153

Voter support faces a new test, however, as concerns grow over crime and violence. 154 Violence in some areas of Los Angeles is increasing at an alarming rate. Homicides and shootings in the city are up 47% and 51%, respectively, from 2019, 155 predominantly hitting the same low-income communities of color that have been historically affected. 156 High-profile armed robberies and a string of violent crimes have shaken the city and made public safety one of the top concerns for voters. 157 In a recent series of interviews exploring crime in Southern California, experts asserted that justice reforms such as Prop 47 and bail reform did not cause significant increases in crime, and primarily attributed increases in violence to COVID-related stressors and the availability of highly lethal guns. 158 Nevertheless, the debate will be on

the ballot. Voters will elect a sheriff after four years under the highly controversial Sheriff Alex Villanueva. 159 And crime has become a cornerstone of the LA city mayoral race. Rick Caruso, a billionaire developer and former president of the police commission, is a top candidate and has centered his campaign on public order. 160

In recent years, the vast majority of Angelenos have chosen to rise above "arrest, incarcerate, repeat" and to try new approaches to solving the issues that have plagued the area for decades. LA is now at an inflection point that will shape the future of the region and set a tone for the nation. In a moment when the county grapples to reimagine public safety while experiencing an increase in violence, the policies outlined in this report offer new strategies to achieving lasting safety. They work to build community health, repair individual and systemic harm, and center the communities most affected by violence and the justice system. As debates go on, these policy agendas offer a roadmap to rectify mistakes of the past and allow for a holistic vision of community health and safety to move forward.

¹⁵² Tchekmedyian, A. (2020, March 5). On heels of Sheriff's Department scandal, L.A. County voters overwhelmingly back stronger oversight. Los Angeles Times. https://www.latimes.com/california/story/2020-03-05/voters-support-measure-r-oversight-sheriffs-department

[🖽] Melley, B. (2020, November 6). Criminal justice reformer wins LA district attorney's race. AP News. https://apnews.com/article/george-gascon-wins-la-district-attorney-c833851 676c93caa2775d6207a27a668

¹⁵⁴ Willon, P., & Wiley, H. (2022, March 2). Why crime is at the center of California elections this year. Los Angeles Times. https://www.latimes.com/california/story/2022-03-02/ crime-debate-center-california-election-season

¹⁵⁵ Rector, K., Winton, R., & Campa, A. J. (2021, December 4). Brutal, brazen crimes shake L.A., leaving city at a crossroads. Los Angeles Times. https://www.latimes.com/california/ story/2021-12-04/brutal-brazen-incidents-push-crime-into-focus-in-l-a

¹⁵⁶ Mantle, L. (Host). (2021, December 8). Los Angeles is seeing an increase in violent crime: What is driving it? In AirTalk. KPCC. https://www.kpcc.org/show/airtalk/2021-12-08/losangeles-is-seeing-an-increase-in-violent-crime-what-is-driving-it

¹⁵⁷ Oreskes, B. (2022, April 11). Karen Bass and Rick Caruso in dead heat, L.A. mayoral poll finds. Los Angeles Times. https://www.latimes.com/california/story/2022-04-11/karenbass-rick-caruso-in-dead-heat-mayoral-poll

¹⁵⁸ Mantle, L. (Host). (2021, December 6). Following high profile smash and grab incidents and other violence, what trends are we seeing with various types of crime? In AirTalk. KPCC. https://www.kpcc.org/show/airtalk/2021-12-06/following-high-profile-smash-and-grab-incidents-and-other-violence-what-trends-are-we-seeing-with-various-typesof-crime: Mantle, L. (Host). (2021, December 7). A look into retail and property crime trends and how recent incidents are impacting consumers and industry workers. In AirTalk. KPCC. https://www.kpcc.org/show/airtalk/2021-12-07/a-look-into-retail-and-property-crime-trends-and-how-recent-incidents-are-impacting-consumers-and-industry-workers; and Mantle, L. (2021, December 8)

⁵⁰ Regardie, J. (2021, July 16). Competitors are lining up to unseat L.A. County Sheriff Alex Villanueva. Los Angeles Magazine. https://www.lamag.com/citythinkblog/alex-villanueva-election-challengers/

¹⁶⁰ Oreskes, B. (2022)

APPENDIX A: Los Angeles as a Case Study

LOS ANGELES AS A CASE STUDY

Los Angeles's size and diversity, as well as the massive scale of its challenges and needed solutions, make it an intriguing case study.

DEMOGRAPHY

- Los Angeles is the most populous county in the United States. 161 Home to about 10 million residents. 162 LA County has a similar population to the state of Georgia. 163
- Nearly half the LA County population identifies as Hispanic and/or Latinx, while 9% identify as Black, 15% as Asian, and 26% as White. 164
- Immigrants make up 35% of the population, ¹⁶⁵ and recent estimates show that 1 in 12 of all immigrants in the United States resides in LA County. 166
- Some 915,000 Angelenos are undocumented, and 74% of those people have lived in the United States for at least 10 years.167

CRIMINAL JUSTICE SYSTEM

- The Los Angeles County Sheriff's Department (LASD) is the largest of its kind. 168 It runs the world's largest jail, which is also the country's largest mental health facility. 169
- The Los Angeles Police Department (LAPD) is the third-largest police department in the country, 170 and there are 45 additional municipal police departments in in the county.¹⁷¹
- The combined budgets of LAPD, and the county Sheriff's and Probation Department amounted to over \$6.2 billion in fiscal 2020-2021 alone. 172, 173

[🕫] El Nassar, H. (2017, October 24). Big and small America. U.S. Census Bureau. <u>https://www.census.gov/library/stories/2017/10/big-and-small-counties.html</u>.

¹⁶² United States Census Bureau. (2021). QuickFacts: Los Angeles County, California. https://www.census.gov/quickfacts/losangelescountycalifornia

¹⁸³ William, D. (2021, December 21) Georgia growth outstrips most states in slow-growing nation. Capitol Beat. http://capitol-beat.org/2021/12/georgia-growth-outstripsmost-states-in-slow-growing-nation/

¹⁶⁴ United States Census Bureau (2021)

¹⁶⁵ Crable (2020).

¹⁶⁶ Los Angeles Area Chamber of Commerce. (n.d.). New Americans in Los Angeles. Retrieved November 2021. http://www.newamericaneconomy.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/03/LA.pdf

¹⁶⁷ Migration Policy Institute (2019)

¹⁶⁸ Los Angeles County Sheriff's Department (2021)

TO Hyland, S. S., & Davis, E. (2019, October). Local police departments, 2016: Personnel. Bureau of Justice Statistics. Revised January 27, 2021. https://bjs.ojp.gov/content/ pub/pdf/lpd16p.pdf

TILos Angeles Almanac. (n.d.). Municipal Police Departments Los Angeles County. Retrieved July 9, 2022. http://www.laalmanac.com/crime/cr69.php.

T2 County analysis includes LASD and Probation. See County of Los Angeles 2020–21 final budget, https://ceo.lacounty.gov/wp-content/uploads/2020/12/LA-County-2020-21-Final-Budget-Book.pdf

TZ City of Los Angeles. (2020, June). Budget: Fiscal year 2020–21. Page 148. https://lacontroller.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/09/Budget-2020-21-Electronic.pdf

APPENDIX B: Alternatives to Incarceration initiative

KEY FACTS AND FIGURES

MILESTONES

- Establishment of the ATI Office and Jail Closure Implementation Team under the chief executive officer
- Men's Central Jail closure report released March 2021¹⁷⁴
- Justice, Care and Opportunities Department as a home for Office of Diversion and Reentry, pretrial services, and the ATI office, to be launched fall of 2022

FY 2021-2022 LA COUNTY SPENDING

- ATI Office budget: \$3.5 million¹⁷⁵
- Jail Closure Implementation Team budget: \$2.5 million¹⁷⁶
- Office of Diversion and Reentry budget: \$173 million¹⁷⁷

- LASD budget: \$3.4 billion¹⁷⁸
- Annual cost of LA County jails: \$849 million¹⁷⁹

ESTIMATED COSTS

■ LA County Office of Diversion and Reentry cost per day of wraparound housing and services for people with severe mental health problems: \$150 per person¹⁸⁰

■ Cost per day of incarceration in mental health unit: \$800 per person¹⁸¹

NEED VERSUS INVESTMENT

Funding Needs:

- Care First Budget, created by community groups with broad expertise across sectors, identifies \$2 billion in needed investment for diversion, health, housing, reentry, youth, education, and economic development programs in LA County¹⁸²
- Estimate for the community-based system of care needed to divert 3,600 people to close Men's Central Jail: \$238 million for the first year¹⁸³

Key Investments Made:

- \$29.9 million to the Department of Mental Health's crisis and outreach efforts184
- Care First Community Investment included \$42 million to divert people with behavioral health issues into treatment to close Men's Central Jail, \$17 million for more diversion and pretrial services, and \$21 million for housing and reentry programs185

Tid Ghaly, C. R. (2021, March 30). Developing a plan for closing Men's Central Jail as Los Angeles County reduces its reliance on incarceration. http://file.lacounty.gov/SDSInter/bos/bc/1104568 DEVELO 1.PDF

¹⁷⁵ Davenport, F. A. (2022, April). County of Los Angeles 2022–23 recommended budget, Volume One. Page 17.11. https://ceo.lacounty.gov/wp-content/uploads/2022/04/2022-23-Recommended-Budget-Volume-One-with-Letter_RVSD-Online.pdf.

¹⁷⁶ Davenport (2022), page 17.12

¹⁷⁷ Davenport (2022), page 23.1

¹⁷⁸ Davenport (2022) page 58.1

¹⁷⁹ Davenport (2022), page 58.13

¹⁸⁰ Dugdale, E. E. (2022, April 27). This LA jail program is a huge success. So why can't it take on more people? LAist. https://laist.com/news/criminal-justice/this-la-jail-program-is-a-huge-success-so-why-cant-it-take-on-more-people

¹⁸² Re-imagine L.A. Coalition. (2021). Care First Budget 2021–22. https://drive.google.com/file/d/16rQNLN19Fc2rnbz6HsRH6DlpeQI7Hdoc/view

¹⁸³ Ghaly, C. R. (2021), page 57

¹⁸⁴ Davenport, F. A. (2021, April 20). Fiscal year 2021–22 recommended county budget. County of Los Angeles Chief Executive Office. https://ceo.lacounty.gov/wp-content/ uploads/2021/04/04.20.21-FY-2021-22-Recommended-County-Budget-Transmittal-Letter.pdf

¹⁸⁵ County of Los Angeles Chief Executive Office. (n.d.). Care First community investment recommended spending plan. Retrieved July 9, 2022. https://ceo.lacounty.gov/ wp-content/uploads/2022/01/CFCI-Year-One-Spending-Plan-1.pdf

APPENDIX C: Youth Justice Reimagined

KEY FACTS AND FIGURES

MILESTONES

- Establishment of Youth Justice Advisory Group for continued implementation planning across seven work groups in 2021
- LA City Department of Youth Development established in 2021
- Department of Youth Development launched in July 2022

FY 2021-2022 LA CITY AND COUNTY SPENDING

- LA County Division of Youth Diversion and Development (YDD) budget: \$26.1 million¹⁸⁶
- LA City Department of Youth Development budget: \$1.4 million¹⁸⁷
- LA County Probation juvenile operations budget: \$570 million¹⁸⁸
- LA County Juvenile incarceration budget: \$405 million¹⁸⁹

ESTIMATED COSTS

- Cost per year of pre-arrest diversion: \$7,000 per youth¹⁹⁰
- Cost per year for juvenile incarceration: \$1 million per youth¹⁹¹
- Cost per year of juvenile probation field supervision: \$23,125¹⁹²

NEED VERSUS INVESTMENT

Funding Needs:

- Phase 1 of Youth Justice Reimagined: \$75 million, including \$55 million to community-based organizations¹⁹³
- Estimated need for launching the Department of Youth Development and Youth Justice Reimagined: \$152.5 million194

Key Investments Made:

- \$27.4 million for a Youth Justice Reimagined Development Fund¹⁹⁵
- \$17.3 million for YDD Expansion¹⁹⁶
- \$11 million to Youth Development and Education through the Care First Community Investment 197
- \$1.5 million to Arts for Justice-Involved Youth in American Rescue Plan Act funding198

¹⁸⁶ Davenport, F. A. (2021, June 28) Recommended adjustments to the 2021–22 recommended county budget to reflect various changes and authorization to execute funding agreements. Page 4. http://file.lacounty.gov/SDSInter/bos/supdocs/159069.pdf

¹⁸⁷ Office of Councilwoman Monica Rodriguez, 7th District. (2021, May 20). Councilwoman Monica Rodriguez secures \$1.4 million and the creation of the city's first youth development department. https://monicarodriguez.org/news/councilwoman-monica-rodriguez-secures-1-4-million-and-the-creation-of-the-citys-first-youth-development-department#:~:text=Los%20Angeles%2C%20CA%20%E2%80%94%20Today%2C.the%20City%20Of%20Los%20Angeles.

¹⁸⁸ Gonzalez, A. (2021, August 24). Youth justice reimagined: Fulfilling Los Angeles County's commitment to a new youth justice model. http://file.lacounty.gov/SDSInter/bos/ supdocs/160036.pdf

¹⁸⁹ County of Los Angeles. (2021). 2021–22 final budget. https://ceo.lacounty.gov/wp-content/uploads/2021/12/LA-County-2021-22-Final-Budget-Book-upload.pdf

¹⁹⁰ Espinoza, P. (2021, January 22). Youth justice reimagined: Phase 1 proposed plan and initial analysis, http://file.lacounty.gov/SDSInter/bos/supdocs/150836.pdf

¹⁹¹ Brown, N. (2022, March 10). LA County probation budget break down. Presented to the Los Angeles County Probation Oversight Commission. http://file.lacounty.gov/ SDSInter/bos/supdocs/POC22-0043.pdf

¹⁹² W. Haywood Burns Institute (2020), page 70

¹⁹³ W. Haywood Burns Institute (2020), page 69

¹⁹⁴ Los Angeles Youth Uprising Coalition. (2022, May 4). Funding Youth Justice Reimagined and a strong Department of Youth Development. https://drive.google.com/ file/d/1iqmITHhQciK-PZy9IAIkb8mh-2Bw4cvS/view?usp=sharing

¹⁹⁵County of Los Angeles (2021), page 10

¹⁹⁶ Davenport (2021, June 28)

¹⁹⁷ County of Los Angeles Chief Executive Office (n.d.)

¹⁹⁸ County of Los Angeles Chief Executive Office. (2021). American Rescue Plan — Phase One spending plan. http://file.lacounty.gov/SDSInter/lac/1110366_AmericanRescue-PlanPhaseOneSpendingPlan.pdf?utm_content=&utm_medium=email&utm_name=&utm_source=govdelivery&utm_term=

APPENDIX D: Violence Intervention

KEY FACTS AND FIGURES

MILESTONES

- Los Angeles County Department of Public Health launched the Trauma Prevention Initiative in 2015¹⁹⁹
- Los Angeles County Department of Public Health established the Office of Violence Prevention in 2019²⁰⁰
- California Violence Intervention and Prevention (CalVIP) Grant Program established in 2019²⁰¹
- Biden administration features community violence interventions as part of the White House's Comprehensive Strategy to Prevent and Respond to Gun Crime and Ensure Public Safety²⁰²
- The U.S. Department of the Treasury provided guidance to use American Rescue Plan Act funds for holistic, evidence-based approaches to reducing community violence²⁰³
- California CRISES Grant Pilot Program was established in October 2021 to create and strengthen community-based alternatives to law enforcement as first responders to crisis situations²⁰⁴

FY 2021-2022 LA CITY AND COUNTY SPENDING

- GRYD Office: \$32.5 million²⁰⁵
- Summer Night Lights: \$4 million²⁰⁶
- LA County Office of Violence Prevention: \$3 million²⁰⁷

- LAPD: \$1.8 billion²⁰⁸
- LASD: **\$3.4 billion**²⁰⁹

ESTIMATED COSTS

- Estimated cost of each homicide to the criminal justice system, the victim's family and society-at-large: \$8.9 million²¹⁰
- Estimated yearly cost savings to city of LA through GRYD incident response: \$55 million²¹¹

NEED VERSUS INVESTMENT

Funding Needs:

■ Los Angeles Violence Intervention Coalition has called for \$400 million **over three years** to raise wages, improve access to mental health services, and increase the number of violence intervention workers and peace ambassadors across the county²¹²

Key Investments Made:

- \$2.5 million in additional GRYD funding and \$2.4 million in additional Summer Night Lights funding in mayor's FY 2022-2023 recommended
- \$5 million in one-time funding to expand trauma prevention initiative and \$1.3 million (over three years) for Crisis Response and Violence Interruption Program (CRVIP) pilot project²¹⁴
- \$20 million for violence prevention initiatives through American Rescue Plan funding²¹⁵

¹⁹⁹ County of Los Angeles Public Health. (n.d.). Trauma Prevention Initiative. Retrieved July 9, 2022. http://www.publichealth.lacounty.gov/ovp/TPI.htm#:-:text=The%20Los%20 Angeles%20County%20Department,violence%#Drelated%20injuries%20and%20deaths

²⁰⁰ County of Los Angeles Public Health (n.d.) Countywide OVP

²⁰¹ California Grants Portal. (2021, November 18). California Violence Intervention and Prevention (CalVIP) grant program. https://www.grants.ca.gov/grants/california-violence-intervention-and-prevention-calvip-grant-program/#:-.text=This%20bill%20codified%20the%20CalVIP.reporting%20requirements%20to%20the%20Legislature.

²⁰²² The White House. (2021, June 23). Fact sheet: Biden-Harris administration announces comprehensive strategy to prevent and respond to gun crime and ensure public safety. https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/statements-releases/2021/06/23/fact-sheet-biden-harris-administration-announces-comprehensive-strategy-to-prevent-andrespond-to-gun-crime-and-ensure-public-safety/

²⁰³ United States Department of the Treasury. (2021, June 23). Treasury highlights ways state and local ARP resources can help communities address violent crime. https://home. treasury.gov/news/press-releases/iv0240

²⁰⁴ California Legislative Information, (2021, October 11). AB-118 Department of Social Services: C.R.I.S.E.S. grant pilot program. https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billTextClient.xhtml?bill_id=202120220AB118.

²⁰⁵ Garcetti, E. (2022). City of Los Angeles FY 22-23 budget summary. https://cao.lacity.org/budget22-23/BudgetSummary/

²⁰¹⁷ Ferrer, B. (2021, January 27). Implementing the Office of Violence Prevention's Strategic Plan and Creating a Coordinated Community-based Crisis Response System. Page 11. http://file.lacounty.gov/SDSInter/bos/supdocs/149313.pdf f

²⁰⁰⁸ City of Los Angeles. (2021, July). Detail of department programs: Supplement to the 2021–22 adopted budget volume I. Page 405. https://cao.lacity.org/budget21-22/2021-22%20White%20Book%20-%20Volume%201.pdf

²⁰⁹ County of Los Angeles (2021), page 205

²¹⁰ Brantingham et al. (2017), page 30

²¹² Urban Peace Institute. (n.d.). LA Violence Intervention Coalition's \$400M call to #FundPeacemakers. Retrieved July 9, 2022. https://www.urbanpeaceinstitute.org/la-intervention-coalition

²¹³ Garcetti (2022), page 28

²¹⁴ Davenport (2021, August 27)

²¹⁵ County of Los Angeles Chief Executive Office (2021)

REFERENCES

- Advance Peace. (n.d.). *Learning and evaluation*. Retrieved July 9, 2022. https://www.advancepeace.org/about/learning-evaluation-impact/
- Advancement Project. (2013). A call to action: Los Angeles' quest to achieve community safety. https://static1.squarespace.com/static/55b673coe4bocf84699bdffb/t/5 a18975ce2c483f5adad4e41/1511561073158/AP%2BCall%2BTo%2BAction LA%2BQuest%2Bto%2BAchieve%2BCommunity%2BSafety%2BFINAL%2B2013.pdf
- Agrawal, N. (2017, September 26). Black Lives Matter, other activists protest to stop jail expansion. *Los Angeles Times*. https://www.latimes.com/local/lanow/la-me-ln-black-lives-matter-protests-jail-expansion-20170926-story.html
- Agrawal, N. (2018, June 19). L.A. County supervisors approve \$2.2 billion to build replacement for Men's Central Jail. Los Angeles Times. https://www.latimes.com/local/lanow/la-me-ln-jail-replacement-20180619-story.html
- Allen, T., Bryan, I., Guerrero, A., Teng, A., & Lytle Hernandez, K. (2018, October). *Policing our students*. Million Dollar Hoods. http://milliondollarhoods.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/10/Policing-Our-Students-MDH-Report-Final.pdf
- Armstead, T. L., Wilkins, N., & Nation, M. (2021). Structural and social determinants of inequities in violence risk: A review of indicators. *Journal of Community Psychology*, 49(4), 878–906. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcop.22232
- Aviles Pino, F. (2019, August 22). Los Angeles County votes to stop construction of new jail-like facility, adding momentum to national abolition movement. *The Intercept*. https://theintercept.com/2019/08/22/los-angeles-county-mental-health-facility-abolition/
- Baum, D. (2016, April). Legalize it all. Harper's Magazine. https://harpers.org/archive/2016/04/legalize-it-all/
- Bermont, B. (2019, February 4). LA County watchdog says Probation Department plagued with overuse of pepper spray on youth, overburdened internal affairs unit. Los Angeles Daily News. https://www.dailynews.com/2019/02/04/la-county-watchdog-says-probation-department-plagued-with-overuse-of-pepper-spray-on-youth-overburdened-internal-affairs-unit/
- Blad, E., & Harwin, A. (2017, January 24). Black students more likely to be arrested at school. *Education Week*. https://www.edweek.org/leadership/black-students-more-likely-to-be-arrested-at-school/2017/01
- Brantingham, P. J., Sundback, N., Yan, B., & Chan, K. (2017). *GRYD intervention incident response*& gang crime 2017 evaluation report. California State University, Los Angeles. https://static1.squarespace.com/static/55b673coe#bocf84699bdffb/t/#a1865639140B7C306D73F65/1511548270788/GRYD+Intervention+Incident+Respose+2017.pdf
- Brantingham, P. J., Tita, G., & Herz, D. (2021). The impact of the City of Los Angeles Mayor's Office of Gang Reduction and Youth Development (GRYD) comprehensive strategy on crime in the city of Los Angeles. Justice Evaluation Journal, 4(2), 217–236. https://doi.org/10.1080/24751979.2021.1887709

- Board of State and Community Corrections. (2020, May 21). *Board of State and Community Corrections Juvenile Detention Profile Survey*. https://bscc.ca.gov/wp-content/uploads/JDPS-1Q2002-1Q2020.pdf
- Brown, N. (2021, October 13). Los Angeles County needs to put the money behind its motion to help justice-involved youth. *The Imprint*. https://imprintnews.org/opinion/los-angeles-county-needs-to-put-the-money-behind-its-motion-to-help-justice-involved-youth/59587.
- Brown, N. (2022, March 10). *LA County probation budget break down*. Presented to the Los Angeles County Probation Oversight Commission. http://file.lacounty.gov/SDSInter/bos/supdocs/POC22-0043.pdf
- Bureau of Justice Statistics. (2021, March). *Jail inmates in 2019*. https://bjs.ojp.gov/library/publications/jail-inmates-2019
- Butts, J. A., Roman, C. G., Bostwick, L., & Porter, J. R. (2015). Cure violence: A public health model to reduce gun violence. *Annual Review of Public Health*, *36*(1), 39–53. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-publhealth-031914-122509
- Butts, J. (2019, November 6). Youth still leading violent crime drop: 1988-2018. John Jay Research and Evaluation Center. https://johnjayrec.nyc/2019/11/06/databits201901/
- California Grants Portal. (2021, November 18). California Violence Intervention and Prevention (CalVIP) grant program. https://www.grants.ca.gov/grants/california-violence-intervention-and-prevention-calvip-grant-program/#:~:text=This%20bill%20codified%20the%20CalVIP,reporting%20requirements%20to%20the%20Legislature.
- California Legislative Information, (2021, October 11). *AB-118 Department of Social Services: C.R.I.S.E.S. grant pilot program.* https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billTextClient.xhtml?bill_id=202120220AB118.
- Capitman, J., Gonzalez, A., Ramirez, M., & Pacheco, T. L. (2009). The effectiveness of a Promotora health education model for improving Latino health care access in California's Central Valley. Central Valley Health Policy Institute. http://www.fresnostate.edu/chhs/cvhpi/documents/cms-final-report.pdf
- Castillo, M., & Salcedo, B. (2022, February 7). Op-ed: Voters wanted big change from Measure J. Why hasn't L.A. seen it yet? *Los Angeles Times*. https://www.latimes.com/opinion/story/2022-02-07/criminal-justice-los-angeles-measure-j
- Center for American Progress. (2021, February 2). Release: 20+ cities launch national offices of Violence
 Prevention Network, building on the movement to reimagine public safety. https://www.americanprogress.org/press/release/2021/02/02/495297/release-20-cities-launch-national-offices-violence-prevention-network-building-movement-reimagine-public-safety/
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2022, June 8). Community violence prevention. https://www.cdc.gov/violenceprevention/communityviolence/index.html#:~:text=Related%20 Pages,schools%20and%20on%20the%20streets
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2021, November 2). Preventing intimate partner violence.

 https://www.cdc.gov/violenceprevention/intimatepartnerviolence/fastfact.html#:~:text=IPV%20is%20

 common.&text=Data%20from%20CDC's%20National%20Intimate,form%20of%20IPV%2Drelated%20impact

- Chalfin, A., Hansen, B., Lerner, J., & Parker, L. (2019). Reducing crime through environmental design: Evidence from a randomized experiment of street lighting in New York City. *National Bureau of Economic Research*, Working Paper 25798. https://www.nber.org/papers/w25798.pdf
- City of Los Angeles. (2020, June). *Budget: Fiscal year 2020–21.* Page 148. https://lacontroller.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/09/Budget-2020-21-Electronic.pdf
- City of Los Angeles. (2021, July). *Detail of department programs: Supplement to the* 2021–22 adopted budget volume I. https://cao.lacity.org/budget21-22/2021-22%20White%20Book%20-%20Volume%201.pdf
- City of Los Angeles Mayor's Office of Gang Reduction and Youth Development (GRYD). (n.d.). *Intervention providers*. Retrieved July 9, 2022. https://www.lagryd.org/intervention.html.
- City of Los Angeles Mayor's Office of Gang Reduction and Youth Development (GRYD). (n.d.). *Prevention providers*. Retrieved July 9, 2022. https://www.lagryd.org/prevention.html
- City of Los Angeles Mayor's Office of Gang Reduction and Youth Development (GRYD). (n.d.). Summer Night Lights. Retrieved July 9, 2022. https://www.lagryd.org/summer-night-lights.html
- Cosgrove, J., & Miller, L. (2021, September 18). L.A. County juvenile halls are "unsuitable for the confinement of youth," state board finds. *Los Angeles Times*. https://www.latimes.com/california/story/2021-09-18/state-finds-l-a-county-juvenile-halls-unsuitable-for-the-confinement-of-youth
- Cosgrove, J. (2020, November 3). L.A. County voters approve Measure J, providing new funding for social services. *Los Angeles Times*. https://www.latimes.com/california/story/2020-11-03/2020-la-election-tracking-measure-j
- Council on Criminal Justice. (2022, January 24). *Pandemic*, social unrest, and crime in U.S. cities: Year-end 2021 update. https://counciloncj.org/crime-trends-yearend-2021-update/
- County of Los Angeles. (2021). 2021–22 final budget. https://ceo.lacounty.gov/wp-content/uploads/2021/12/LA-County-2021-22-Final-Budget-Book-upload.pdf
- County of Los Angeles Chief Executive Office. (n.d.). *Care First community investment recommended spending plan*. Retrieved July 9, 2022. https://ceo.lacounty.gov/wp-content/uploads/2022/01/CFCI-Year-One-Spending-Plan-1.pdf
- County of Los Angeles Chief Executive Office. (2021). *American Rescue Plan Phase one spending plan*. <a href="http://file.lacounty.gov/SDSInter/lac/1110366_AmericanRescuePlanPhaseOneSpendingPlan.pdf?utm_content=&utm_medium=email&utm_name=&utm_source=govdelivery&utm_term="http://file.lacounty.gov/SDSInter/lac/1110366_AmericanRescuePlanPhaseOneSpendingPlan.pdf?utm_content=&utm_medium=email&utm_name=&utm_source=govdelivery&utm_term=
- County of Los Angeles Chief Executive Office. (2021, August 10). *Transformative* \$187.7 million 'Care First Community Investment' spending plan invests in equity and community. https://ceo.lacounty.gov/2021/08/10/ati-newsroom/care-first-community-investment-spending-plan-invests-in-equity-and-community/
- County of Los Angeles Probation. (n.d.). *About probation*. Retrieved March 21, 2022. https://probation.lacounty.gov/about-probation/
- County of Los Angeles Public Health. (n.d.). *Countywide OVP (Office of Violence Prevention)*. Retrieved July 9, 2022. http://www.publichealth.lacounty.gov/ovp/ovp_countywide.htm

- County of Los Angeles Public Health. (n.d.). *Trauma Prevention Initiative*. Retrieved July 9, 2022. http://www.publichealth.lacounty.gov/ovp/TPI.htm#:~:text=The%20Los%20Angeles%20County%20Department,violence%2Drelated%20injuries%20and%20deaths
- Crable, M. (2020, February 24). 5 things you may not know about immigrants in Los Angeles County.

 USC Dornsife School of Letters, Arts and Sciences. https://dornsife.usc.edu/news/stories/3170/five-things-you-may-not-know-about-immigrants-in-los-angeles/
- Cullors, P. (2018, April 13). Op-ed: My brother's abuse in jail is a reason I co-founded Black Lives Matter. We need reform in L.A. Los Angeles Times. https://www.latimes.com/opinion/op-ed/la-oe-cullors-los-angeles-sheriff-jail-reform-20180413-story.html
- Cullors-Brignac, P., & Zuñiga, D. (2014, June 24). A mental health jail is an oxymoron; diversion is what's needed: Guest commentary. Los Angeles Daily News. https://www.dailynews.com/2014/06/24/a-mental-health-jail-is-an-oxymoron-diversion-is-whats-needed-guest-commentary/
- Davenport, F. A. (2021, April 20). Fiscal year 2021–22 recommended county budget. County of Los Angeles Chief Executive Office. https://ceo.lacounty.gov/wp-content/uploads/2021/04/04.20.21-FY-2021-22-Recommended-County-Budget-Transmittal-Letter.pdf
- Davenport, F. A. (2021, June 28). Recommended adjustments to the 2021–22 recommended county budget to reflect various changes and authorization to execute funding agreements. http://file.lacounty.gov/SDSInter/bos/supdocs/159069.pdf
- Davenport, F. A. (2022, April 19). *Fiscal year 2022–23 recommended county budget*. County of Los Angeles Chief Executive Office. https://ceo.lacounty.gov/wp-content/uploads/2022/04/04.19.22-2022-23-Recommended-Budget-Transmittal-Letter.pdf.
- Digard, L., & Swavola, E. (2019, April). *Justice denied: The harmful and lasting effects of pretrial detention.*Vera Institute of Justice. https://www.vera.org/downloads/publications/Justice-Denied-Evidence-Brief.pdf
- Dugdale, E. E. (2022, April 27). This LA jail program is a huge success. So why can't it take on more people? LAist. https://laist.com/news/criminal-justice/this-la-jail-program-is-a-huge-success-so-why-cant-it-take-on-more-people
- Education Week. (2017). Which students are arrested the most?

 https://www.edweek.org/which-students-are-arrested-most-in-school-u-s-data-by-school#/overview
- El Nassar, H. (2017, October 24). *Big and small America*. U.S. Census Bureau. https://www.census.gov/library/stories/2017/10/big-and-small-counties.html
- Espinoza, P. (2021, January 22). Youth justice reimagined: Phase 1 proposed plan and initial analysis, http://file.lacounty.gov/SDSInter/bos/supdocs/150836.pdf
- Evans, D., & Delgado, S. (2014, April). Most high risk youth referred to Youth Advocate Programs, Inc. remain arrest free and in their communities during YAP participation. John Jay College of Criminal Justice, https://jirec.files.wordpress.com/2011/07/yapfacts201401.pdf
- Evans, D., & Delgado, S. (2014, June). YAP helps to keep youth out of secure facilities and living in their communities. John Jay College of Criminal Justice. https://jjrec.files.wordpress.com/2011/07/yapfacts20143.pdf

- Everytown Research & Policy. (n.d.). *City gun violence*. Retrieved July 9, 2022. https://everytownresearch.org/issue/city-gun-violence/
- Everytown Research & Policy. (2020, October 15). *Community-led public safety strategies*. https://everytownresearch.org/report/community-led-public-safety-strategies/
- Ferrer, B. (2021, January 27). Implementing the Office of Violence Prevention's Strategic Plan and Creating a Coordinated Community-based Crisis Response System. http://file.lacounty.gov/SDSInter/bos/supdocs/149313.pdf
- Fremon, C. (2018, June 25). #MeToo behind bars: Will proposed \$1 million settlement on case of alleged sexual assault of girl by LA County juvenile probation officer help push department reform? WitnessLA. https://witnessla.com/will-proposed-1-settlement-on-case-of-alleged-sexual-assault-of-girl-by-la-county-juvenile-probation-officer-help-push-department-reform/
- Garcetti, E. (2022). *City of Los Angeles FY 22–23 budget summary.* https://cao.lacity.org/budget22-23/BudgetSummary/
- Gershon, L. (2020, June 26). Why do we have cops in schools? *JSTOR Daily*. https://daily.jstor.org/why-do-we-have-cops-in-schools/
- Ghaly, C. R. (2021, March 30). Developing a plan for closing Men's Central Jail as Los Angeles County reduces its reliance on incarceration. http://file.lacounty.gov/SDSInter/bos/bc/1104568_DEVELO_1.PDF
- Gomez, M. (2021, February 16). L.A. school board cuts its police force and diverts funds for Black student achievement. *Los Angeles Times*. https://www.latimes.com/california/story/2021-02-16/lausd-diverting-school-police-funds-support-black-students
- Gonzalez, A. (2021, August 24). Youth justice reimagined: Fulfilling Los Angeles County's commitment to a new youth justice model. http://file.lacounty.gov/SDSInter/bos/supdocs/160036.pdf
- Gramlich, J. (2020, November 20). What the data says (and doesn't say) about crime in the United States.

 Pew Research Center. https://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2020/11/20/facts-about-crime-in-the-u-s/
- Hutchinson, B. (2019, October 1). More than 30,000 children under age 10 have been arrested in the US since 2013: FBI. ABC News. https://abcnews.go.com/US/30000-children-age-10-arrested-us-2013-fbi/story?id=65798787
- Hyland, S. S., & Davis, E. (2019, October). *Local police departments*, 2016: Personnel. Bureau of Justice Statistics. Revised January 27, 2021. https://bjs.oip.gov/content/pub/pdf/lpd16p.pdf
- Jannetta, J., & Okeke, C. (2017, November). Strategies for reducing criminal and juvenile justice involvement.

 Urban Institute. https://www.urban.org/sites/default/files/publication/94516/strategies-for-reducing-criminal-and-juvenile-justice-involvement.pdf.

 and-juvenile-justice-involvement.pdf.pdf
- Jones, A. (2018, December). *Correctional control 2018: Incarceration and supervision by state*. Prison Policy Initiative. https://www.prisonpolicy.org/reports/correctionalcontrol2018.html
- JusticeLA. (n.d.) The JusticeLA Coalition: Who we are. Retrieved July 9, 2022. https://justicelanow.org/about/

- Landers, S., & Levinson, M. (2016). Mounting evidence of the effectiveness and versatility of community health workers. *American Journal of Public Health 106*(4), 591–592. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4816154/
- Langston, L., Berzofsky, M., Krebs, C., & Smiley-McDonald, H. (2021, August). *Victimizations not-reported to the police:* 2006–2010. Bureau of Justice Statistics. https://www.bjs.gov/content/pub/pdf/vnrpo610.pdf
- Lewis, K., & Burd-Sharps, S. (2018). *A portrait of Los Angeles County*. Measure of America. https://measureofamerica.org/los-angeles-county/
- Liberman, A. M., Kirk, D. S., & Kim, K. (2014, February). Labeling effects of first juvenile arrests: secondary deviance and secondary sanctioning. Urban Institute. https://www.urban.org/sites/default/files/publication/33701/413274-Labeling-Effects-of-First-Juvenile-Arrests-Secondary-Deviance-and-Secondary-Sanctioning.PDF
- Los Angeles Almanac. (n.d.). Los Angeles County jail system by the numbers. Retrieved July 9, 2022. http://www.laalmanac.com/crime/cr25b.php
- Los Angeles Almanac. (n.d.). *Municipal Police Departments Los Angeles County*. Retrieved July 9, 2022. http://www.laalmanac.com/crime/cr69.php.
- Los Angeles Area Chamber of Commerce. (n.d.). *New Americans in Los Angeles*. Retrieved November 2021. http://www.newamericaneconomy.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/03/LA.pdf.
- Los Angeles County Alternatives to Incarceration Work Group. (2020, February). *ATI roadmap*. https://lacalternatives.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/02/ATIRoadmapOnly_fixed.pdf
- Los Angeles County Alternatives to Incarceration Work Group. (2020, March 18). *Care first, jails last:*Health and racial justice strategies for safer communities. https://lacalternatives.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/03/ATI_Full_Report_single_pages.pdf
- Los Angeles School Police Department. (n.d.). *About us.* Retrieved March 14, 2022. https://achieve.lausd.net/Page/15609
- Los Angeles County Sheriff's Department (LASD). (2021). *Twin Towers Correctional Facility*. http://shq.lasdnews.net/pages/tgen1.aspx?id=TTC
- Los Angeles Youth Uprising Coalition. (2022, May 4). Funding Youth Justice Reimagined and a strong

 Department of Youth Development. https://drive.google.com/file/d/1iqmITHhQciK-PZy9IAIkb8mh-2Bw4cv8/view?usp=sharing
- Loudenback, J. (2020, September 23). Shocking sticker price for locking up youth in L.A. County: Calls grow for cheaper, more humane alternatives. *Imprint News*. https://imprintnews.org/los-angeles/shocking-sticker-price-for-locking-up-youth-in-l-a-county-calls-grow-for-cheaper-more-humane-alternatives/47621
- Loyola Law School, Center for Juvenile Law and Policy. (2021, January). 50 years of deputy gangs in the Los Angeles County Sheriff's Department. https://www.lls.edu/academics/centers/ centerforjuvenilelawpolicy/cjlpdeputygangreport/

- Lynch, M., Astone, N. M., Collazos, J., Lipman, M., & Esthappan, S. (2018, February). Arches Transformative Mentoring program: An implementation and impact evaluation in New York City. Urban Institute. https://www.urban.org/sites/default/files/publication/96601/arches_transformative_mentoring_program_o.pdf
- Macias Jr., M. (2019, February 12). LA County strikes down plans for women's and mental health jail.

 Courthouse News. https://www.courthousenews.com/la-county-strikes-down-plans-for-womens-and-mental-health-jail/
- Mantle, L. (Host). (2021, December 6). Following high profile smash and grab incidents and other violence, what trends are we seeing with various types of crime? In *AirTalk*. KPCC. https://www.kpcc.org/show/airtalk/2021-12-06/following-high-profile-smash-and-grab-incidents-and-other-violence-what-trends-are-we-seeing-with-various-types-of-crime
- Mantle, L. (Host). (2021, December 7). A look into retail and property crime trends and how recent incidents are impacting consumers and industry workers. In *AirTalk*. KPCC. https://www.kpcc.org/show/airtalk/2021-12-07/a-look-into-retail-and-property-crime-trends-and-how-recent-incidents-are-impacting-consumers-and-industry-workers
- Mantle, L. (Host). (2021, December 8). Los Angeles is seeing an increase in violent crime: What is driving it? In *AirTalk*. KPCC. https://www.kpcc.org/show/airtalk/2021-12-08/los-angeles-is-seeing-an-increase-in-violent-crime-what-is-driving-it
- Marshall, J. (2011, April). Comprehensive Violence Reduction Strategy (CVRS): A framework for implementing the CVRS in your neighborhood. Advancement Project. https://static1.squarespace.com/static/55b673coe4bocf84699bdffb/t/5a18992bf9619afa6ao583cf/1511561517180/CVRSReport_Final.pdf
- Melley, B. (2020, November 6). Criminal justice reformer wins LA district attorney's race. *AP News*. https://apnews.com/article/george-gascon-wins-la-district-attorney-c833851676c93caa2775d6207a27a668
- MHP Salud. (2020). *Brief report: CHWs and why they work.*https://mhpsalud.org/portfolio/brief-report-chws-and-why-they-work/
- Migration Policy Institute. (2019). *Profile of the Unauthorized Population: Los Angeles County, CA.* https://www.migrationpolicy.org/data/unauthorized-immigrant-population/county/6037.
- Mingus, M. (n.d.). *Transformative justice: A brief description*. TransformHarm.org. Retrieved March 12, 2022. https://transformharm.org/transformative-justice-a-brief-description/
- Moore, S. (2007, September 13). Gangs grow, but hard line stirs doubts. *The New York Times*. https://www.nytimes.com/2007/09/13/us/13gang.html?_r=1&pagewanted=all
- Morgan, R. E., & Oudekerk, B. A. (2019, September). *Criminal victimization*, 2018. U.S. Department of Justice, Bureau of Justice Statistics. https://www.bjs.gov/content/pub/pdf/cv18.pdf
- Murch, D. (2015). Crack in Los Angeles: Crisis, militarization, and Black response to the late twentieth-century war on drugs. *Journal of American History, 102*(1), 162–173. https://doi.org/10.1093/jahist/jav260
- National Coalition Against Domestic Violence. (n.d.). Statistics. Retrieved March 12, 2022. https://ncadv.org/STATISTICS#:~:text=On%20average%2C%20nearly%2020%20people,10%20million%20women%20and%20men.&text=1%20in%203%20women%20and,violence%20by%20an%20intimate%20partner

- National Institute of Justice (NIJ). (2014, March 10). *From youth justice involvement to young adult offending*. https://nij.ojp.gov/topics/articles/juvenile-delinquency-young-adult-offending
- Nocella II, A. J. (2011). An overview of the history and theory of transformative justice. *Peace & Conflict Review,* 6(1). http://www.review.upeace.org/pdf.cfm?articulo=124&ejemplar=23
- Nowrasteh, A. (2020, December 27). *Interior immigration enforcement has collapsed under Trump, lowest level since George W. Bush administration*. Cato Institute. https://www.cato.org/blog/interior-immigration-enforcement-has-collapsed-under-trump-lowest-level-george-w-bush
- Office of Councilwoman Monica Rodriguez, 7th District. (2021, May 20). Councilwoman Monica Rodriguez secures \$1.4 million and the creation of the city's first youth development department. https://monicarodriguez.org/news/councilwoman-monica-rodriguez-secures-1-4-million-and-the-creation-of-the-citys-first-youth-development-department#:~:text=Los%20Angeles%2C%20CA%-20%E2%80%94%20Today%2C,the%20City%20of%20Los%20Angeles
- Oregon Law Center. (n.d.). *Legal help for clients*. Retrieved July 9, 2022. https://oregonlawcenter.org/how-to-get-help/legal-help-for-clients/
- Oreskes, B. (2022, April 11). Karen Bass and Rick Caruso in dead heat, L.A. mayoral poll finds. *Los Angeles Times*. https://www.latimes.com/california/story/2022-04-11/karen-bass-rick-caruso-in-dead-heat-mayoral-poll
- PBS Frontline. (n.d.). Official reports and reviews on the Rampart scandal. Retrieved July 9, 2022. https://www.pbs.org/wgbh/pages/frontline/shows/lapd/later/reports.html
- Perkins, T. (2020, June 23). Revealed: Police unions spend millions to influence policy in biggest US cities. The Guardian, https://www.theguardian.com/us-news/2020/jun/23/police-unions-spending-policy-reform-chicago-new-york-la
- Pew Charitable Trusts. (2010). Collateral costs: Incarceration's effect on economic mobility. https://perma.cc/XHL8-KHVA
- Pew Charitable Trusts. (2021, January 29). Local spending on jails tops \$25 billion in latest nationwide data. https://www.pewtrusts.org/en/research-and-analysis/issue-briefs/2021/01/local-spending-on-jails-tops-\$25-billion-in-latest-nationwide-data
- Philpart, M., Grant, S., & Guzmán, J. (2019). *Healing together: Shifting approaches to end intimate partner violence*. PolicyLink, Alliance for Boys and Men of Color. https://www.policylink.org/sites/default/files/pl_report_healing_FINAL_10-18-19.pdf
- Pogrebin, M., Dodge, M., & Katsampes, P. (2001). Collateral costs of short-term jail incarceration: The long-term social and economic disruptions. *Corrections Management Quarterly, 5*(4), 64–69. https://www.ojp.gov/ncjrs/virtual-library/abstracts/collateral-costs-short-term-jail-incarceration-long-term-social-and
- Policy Research Associates (PRA). (2018, June). *The Sequential Intercept Model*. https://www.prainc.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/06/PRA-SIM-Letter-Paper-2018.pdf
- Prevention Institute. (n.d.). Violence prevention works: The case for a public health approach to preventing violence. Retrieved March 10, 2022. https://www.preventioninstitute.org/tools/violence-prevention-works-case-public-health-approach-preventing-violence

- Queally, J. (2022, March 6). "We're screwed": L.A. County empties troubled juvenile hall ahead of state board's inspection. Los Angeles Times. https://www.latimes.com/california/story/2022-03-16/la-county-empties-central-juvenile-hall-ahead-of-state-inspection
- Rector, K., Winton, R., & Campa, A. J. (2021, December 4). Brutal, brazen crimes shake L.A., leaving city at a crossroads. Los Angeles Times. https://www.latimes.com/california/story/2021-12-04/brutal-brazen-incidents-push-crime-into-focus-in-l-a
- Regardie, J. (2021, July 16). Competitors are lining up to unseat L.A. County Sheriff Alex Villanueva. *Los Angeles Magazine*. https://www.lamag.com/citythinkblog/alex-villanueva-election-challengers/
- Re-imagine L.A. Coalition. (2021). *Care First Budget 2021–22*. https://drive.google.com/file/d/16rQNLNI9Fc2rnbz 6HsRH6DlpeQI7Hdoc/view
- Ridley-Thomas, M., & Kuehl, S. (2019, August 13). Restructuring the juvenile justice system:

 Building a health-focused model. http://file.lacounty.gov/SDSInter/bos/supdocs/139730.pdf
- Rosen, J., & Painter, G. (2019). From citizen control to co-production: Moving beyond a linear conception of citizen participation. *Journal of the American Planning Association*, 85(3), 335–347. https://doi.org/10.1080/01944363.2019.1618727
- Sawyer, W., & Wagner, P. (2020, March 24). *Mass incarceration: The whole pie 2020*.

 Prison Policy Institute. https://www.prisonpolicy.org/reports/pie2020.html#slideshows/slideshow1/2
- Seigle, E., Walsh, N., & Weber, J. (2014). Core principles for reducing recidivism and improving other outcomes for youth in the juvenile justice system. Council of State Governments Justice Center. https://csgjusticecenter.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/01/Juvenile-Justice-White-Paper-with-Appendices-1-1.pdf
- Sharkey, P. (2010). The acute effect of local homicides on children's cognitive performance. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 107(26),11733–38. https://www.pnas.org/doi/abs/10.1073/pnas.1000690107
- Sharkey, P., Torrats-Espinosa, G., & Takyar, D. (2017). Community and the crime decline: The causal effect of local nonprofits on violent crime. *American Sociological Review, 82*(6). https://doi.org/10.1177/0003122417736289
- Shonkoff, J. P., & Garner, A. S. (2012). The lifelong effects of early childhood adversity and toxic stress. *Pediatrics*, 129(1). https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2011-2663
- Sherin, J. E. (2019, April 26). Report response on the office of inspector general investigation and improving mental health treatment and safety in the juvenile facilities. Los Angeles County Department of Mental Health. http://file.lacounty.gov/SDSInter/bos/supdocs/137012.pdf
- Stebbins, S. (2021, November 12). *America's most dangerous cities*. 24/7 Wall St. https://247wallst.com/special-report/2021/11/12/americas-most-dangerous-cities-2/
- Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA). (n.d.). SAMHSA-Behavioral health integration. Retrieved July 9, 2022. https://www.samhsa.gov/sites/default/files/samhsa-behavioral-health-integration.pdf

- Tat, L. (2021, February 18). Police officers will no longer be stationed at LAUSD campuses. *The Mercury News*. https://www.mercurynews.com/2021/02/18/cops-will-no-longer-be-stationed-at-lausd-campuses/
- Tchekmedyian, A. (2020, March 5). On heels of Sheriff's Department scandal, L.A. County voters overwhelmingly back stronger oversight. *Los Angeles Times*. https://www.latimes.com/california/story/2020-03-05/voters-support-measure-r-oversight-sheriffs-department
- Tchekmedyian, A. (2021, June 17). Judge says sweeping L.A. criminal justice reform measure is unconstitutional. Los Angeles Times. https://www.latimes.com/california/story/2021-06-17/measure-j-unconstitutional
- Tchekmedyian, A. (2022, March 30). After years of talk, little progress on closing L.A. County's aging jail. Los Angeles Times. https://www.latimes.com/california/story/2022-03-30/mens-central-jail-closure-update
- The Justice Collaborative Institute. (2020, June). The case for violence interruption programs as an alternative to policing. https://30glxtjojh81xn8rx26pr5af-wpengine.netdna-ssl.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/12/20.06_Violence-Interruption-1-1.pdf
- The Movement towards Violence as a Health Issue. (2017, January). Creating and mobilizing health and public health/community systems to reduce violence: A framework for action. https://static1.squarespace.com/static/56ba1eo14c2f858bf88b6dff/t/58f104c6e3df28353c5a821d/1492190406476/2017.04.13_Paper2.pdf
- The Stepping Up Initiative. (n.d.). *The problem*. Retrieved March 12, 2022. https://stepuptogether.org/the-problem
- The White House. (2021, June 23). Fact sheet: Biden-Harris administration announces comprehensive strategy to prevent and respond to gun crime and ensure public safety. https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/statements-releases/2021/06/23/fact-sheet-biden-harris-administration-announces-comprehensive-strategy-to-prevent-and-respond-to-gun-crime-and-ensure-public-safety/
- Thompson, H. A. (2019). The racial history of criminal justice in America. *Du Bois Review: Social Science Research on Race*, 16(1), 221–241. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1742058X19000183
- TRAC. (2016). *Historical data: Immigration and Customs Enforcement removals*. Retrieved March 13, 2022. https://trac.syr.edu/phptools/immigration/removehistory/
- Tremblay, A. C., Herz, D. C., Zachery, R., & Kraus, M. (2020, June). The City of Los Angeles Mayor's Office of Gang Reduction and Youth Development (GRYD) comprehensive strategy. https://www.juvenilejusticeresearch.com/sites/default/files/2020-08/GRYD%20Brief%201_GRYD%20
 Comprehensive%20Strategy_6.2020.pdf
- United States Census Bureau. (2021). *QuickFacts: Los Angeles County, California*. https://www.census.gov/quickfacts/losangelescountycalifornia
- United States Department of the Treasury. (2021, June 23). *Treasury highlights ways state and local ARP resources can help communities address violent crime*. https://home.treasury.gov/news/press-releases/jy0240
- Urban Peace Institute. (n.d.). *LA Violence Intervention Coalition's \$400M call to #FundPeacemakers*. Retrieved July 9, 2022. https://www.urbanpeaceinstitute.org/la-intervention-coalition

- Vera Institute of Justice. (n.d.). *Care First L.A.: Tracking jail decarceration*. Retrieved May 1, 2022. https://www.vera.org/care-first-la-tracking-jail-decarceration
- Vera Institute of Justice. (2022). Incarceration trends. Retrieved March 10, 2022. https://trends.vera.org/
- W. Haywood Burns Institute. (2020, October). *Youth justice reimagined: Recommendations of the Los Angeles County Youth Justice Work Group*. https://lacyouthjustice.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/10/Youth-Justice-Reimagined-1.pdf
- Wagner, P., & Rabuy, B. (2017, January 25). *Following the money of mass incarceration*. Prison Policy Initiative. https://www.prisonpolicy.org/reports/money.html
- Walker, T. (2019, August 13). Updated–Supes vote to cancel controversial \$1.7 billion Men's Central Jail replacement contract. *WitnessLA*. https://witnessla.com/supes-may-vote-to-cancel-controversial-1-7-billion-mens-central-jail-replacement-contract-next-tuesday/
- Webster, D. W., Whitehill, J. M., Vernick, J. S., & Parker, E. M. (2012, January 11). Evaluation of Baltimore's Safe Streets program: Effects on attitudes, participants' experiences, and gun violence. Johns Hopkins Center for the Prevention of Youth Violence. https://www.jhsph.edu/research/centers-and-institutes/center-for-prevention-of-youth-violence/field_reports/2012_01_11.Executive%20SummaryofSafeStreetsEval.pdf
- Wildeman, C. (2008). Parental incarceration, the prison boom, and the intergenerational transmission of stigma and disadvantage. [Doctoral dissertation, Princeton University]. https://www.proquest.com/openview/8a6 Oe58ef9690e8af7d3154cdcoc4c92/1?pq-origsite=gscholar&cbl=18750&diss=y
- Wilder Research. (2020, April). *Social conditions for public safety*. https://www.wilder.org/wilder-research/ research-library/social-conditions-safe-communities#study-reports
- William, D. (2021, December 21) *Georgia growth outstrips most states in slow-growing nation*. Capitol Beat. http://capitol-beat.org/2021/12/georgia-growth-outstrips-most-states-in-slow-growing-nation/
- Wilkins, N., Tsao, B., Hertz, M., Davis, R., & Klevens, J. (2014, July). Connecting the dots: An overview of the links among multiple forms of violence. National Center for Injury Prevention and Control, Centers for Disease Control, and Prevention Institute. https://www.preventioninstitute.org/publications/connecting-dots-overview-links-among-multiple-forms-violence
- Willon, P., & Wiley, H. (2022, March 2). Why crime is at the center of California elections this year.

 Los Angeles Times. https://www.latimes.com/california/story/2022-03-02/crime-debate-center-california-election-season
- Winton, R. (2022, March 9). Widespread sexual abuse of girls plagued L.A. County detention camp, women allege. Los Angeles Times. https://www.latimes.com/california/story/2022-03-09/vast-sex-abuse-of-girls-at-l-a-detention-camp-suit-shows
- Wo, J. C. (2018). Revisiting the crime control benefits of voluntary organizations: Organizational presence, organizational capacity, and crime rates in Los Angeles neighborhoods. *Crime & Delinquency*, 65(7): https://doi.org/10.1177/0011128718787517
- Youth Advocate Programs Inc. (n.d.). *Advocate model*. Retrieved July 9, 2022. https://www.yapinc.org/What-We-Do/Direct-Services